
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Transport Committee 

Date Wednesday 13 June 2018 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 
Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 

Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Tuesday 5 June 2018 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526;  
Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 
For media enquiries please contact Alison Bell, External Communications Manager;  
Telephone: 020 7983 4228; Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about 
individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Transport Committee 
Wednesday 13 June 2018 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

 

(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 

(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 50) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Transport Committee held on 16 May 2018 to be signed by the Chair as a correct 

record.  
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 13 to 50 are attached for Members and 

officers only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 51 - 58) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact Laura Pelling, laura.pelling@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5526 

  
The Committee is recommended to note the completed, outstanding and closed 

actions arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

5 Future of Rail in London (Pages 59 - 60) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Grace Pollard, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000  

The Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Note the terms of reference for the investigation, as agreed by the Chair under 

delegated authority in consultation with party Group Lead Members; 

(b) Note the report as background to putting questions to guests on London’s rail 

network, and note the discussion; and 

(c) Agree to delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree any related site visits. 

 
 

6 London TravelWatch Performance Report and Recruitment (Pages 61 - 76) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Ed Williams, ed.williams@london.gov.uk, 0207 983 4399 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note London TravelWatch’s annual performance and the financial position as 

at 31 March 2018, put questions to invited guests and note the discussion; and 

(b) Agree to delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Leads, to agree the recruitment process for the three London TravelWatch 

Board positions, including Deputy Chair, due to expire at the end of the year.  
 
 

7 Transport Committee Work Programme (Pages 77 - 80) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Agree its work programme for the remainder of the 2018/19 Assembly Year, as 

set out in the report; and 

 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference into an investigation into 

taxi and private hire services.  
 
 

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:ed.williams@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

8 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Wednesday 11 July 2018 at 10.00am in 

the Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

9 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 13 June 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5526 

E-mail: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Transport Committee 
Date: Wednesday 16 May 2018 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 

 

 
Present: 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 
Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 
1.1 There were no apologies for absence. 
 
1.2 The Chair placed on record her thanks to the outgoing Chairman, Keith Prince AM, for his 

hard work over the past Assembly Year. 
 

1.3 The Chair also placed on record, on behalf of the Committee, her thanks to the Deputy 
Mayor for Transport, Valerie Shawcross CBE, and agreed that she would send a letter of 
thanks on behalf of the Committee. She noted that the Committee looked forward to 
meeting the incoming Deputy Mayor for Transport, Heidi Alexander, when she took up the 
post in June.  

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 16 May 2018 

 

 
 

2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 
2.1  Resolved: 
 
 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 
 
3   Membership of the Committee (Item 3) 

 

3.1 The Committee received the supplementary agenda which set out the membership and 

chairing arrangements for the Committee, which was agreed by the London Assembly at its 

Annual Meeting on 10 May 2018 as follows: 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair) 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Tom Copley AM  

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM  

Steve O'Connell AM  

Keith Prince AM  

Caroline Russell AM  

Navin Shah AM 

 

3.2 Resolved: 

 

 That the membership and chairing arrangements be noted. 

 
 
4   Terms of Reference (Item 4) 

 

4.1 Resolved: 

 

That the terms of reference, as agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London 

Assembly on 10 May 2018 be noted.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 16 May 2018 

 

 
 

5   Standing Delegations (Item 5) 

 

5.1 Resolved: 

 

That the standing delegations of authority to the Chair, as set out below, be noted. 

 

On 21 July 2005, the Transport Committee resolved: 

 

To delegate the Chair of the Transport Committee, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair, to take action in accordance with the functions of the Assembly listed in 

respect of the London Transport Users Committee under the GLA Act 1999. 

 

 

On 9 June 2005, the Transport Committee resolved: 

 

Future requests by LTUC[1] office holders to take on directorships/offices in other 

organisations be delegated to the Chair of the Transport Committee in consultation 

with the Party Spokespeople on the Transport Committee and following advice 

from the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

[It is a requirement of the Terms and Conditions of Membership of LTUC that the 

appointee will “seek the London Assembly’s approval if he/she wishes to assume 

any further directorships or offices at any time during the period of their 

appointment”]” 

 

 

On 14 July 2011, the Transport Committee resolved: 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and 

party Group Lead Members, to approve the issue of directions or appropriate 

guidance to the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch. 

 

 

[1] London TravelWatch is the operating title of the London Transport Users 

Committee 

 
 
6   Minutes (Item 6) 

 

6.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meetings of the Transport Committee held on 19 February 

2018 and 1 March 2018 be signed by the Chair as correct records.  

 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 16 May 2018 

 

 
 

7   Summary List of Actions (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 
That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 
Committee be noted. 

 
 
8   Tube Delays (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions to the following invited guests: 

 Nigel Holness, Director of Network Operations, Transport for London (TfL); and 

 Peter McNaught, Director of Asset Operations, TfL. 

 

8.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

8.3 During the course of the discussion, the Director of Network Operations agreed to provide 

the Committee with further details of TfL’s approach to assessing the impact of the Royal 

Wedding on central London. The Committee also requested clarity on the actions being 

undertaken on the District line in advance of the Four Lines Modernisation programme.  

 

8.4 Resolved: 

 

 That the report and the discussion be noted. 

 

8.5 In accordance with Standing Order 2.2(D), the Chair agreed to take the rest of the items in a 

different order to that set out on the agenda.  

 
 
9   Motorcycle Safety Report (Item 10) 

 

9.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

9.2 Resolved: 

 

That the report, Motorcycle safety in London: update report, as 

agreed by the former Chairman under delegated authority, in consultation with the 

former Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, attached at Appendix 1, be 

noted. 

 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 16 May 2018 

 

 
 

10   Cycling Infrastructure Report (Item 11) 

 

10.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

10.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the report, London’s cycling infrastructure, as agreed by the 

Former Chairman under delegated authority, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair and party Group Lead Members, as set out at Appendix 1, be noted; and 

 

(b) That the record of the site visits to test new cycling infrastructure in central 

London and Walthamstow, as set out at Appendix 2, be noted. 

 
 
11   Response to Reports on Bus Services (Item 12) 

 

11.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

11.2 Resolved: 

 

 That the further response from TfL to the reports, Driven to 

distraction: Making London’s buses safer and London’s bus network be noted. 

 
 
12   Response to Report on Outer London Junctions (Item 13) 

 

12.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

12.2 Resolved: 

 

 That the response from TfL to the reports, Hostile Streets: 

walking and cycling at outer London junctions, and the impact review for the 

report, as attached at Appendices 1 and 2, be noted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 16 May 2018 

 

 
 

13   Transport Committee Work Programme (Item 14) 

 

13.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

13.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the work programme for 2018/19 Assembly year as set out in 

 the report be agreed; 

(b) That authority be  delegated to the Chair, in consultation with 

 party Group Lead Members, to agree: 

i) The topic and any terms of reference for an investigation into London’s National 

Rail Network; 

ii) A response to Transport for London’s consultation on private hire safety 

regulation; and 

iii) Details of a site visit to the construction site for the Tottenham Court Road 

Elizabeth line station. 

 
 
14   River Bus Services (Item 9) 

 

14.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions to the following invited guests: 

 Danny Price, General Manager of Sponsored Services, TfL; 

 Robin Mortimer, Chief Executive, Port of London Authority; 

 Sean Collins, Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers; and 

 Emma McFarlane, Passenger Representative. 

 

14.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 2. 

 

14.3 At this point in the meeting, the Chair welcomed pupils and staff from Bonus Pastor Catholic 

College, Lewisham, who were observing the meeting from the public gallery. 

 

14.4 During the course of the discussion the Chief Executive of the Port of London Authority 

agreed to provide the Committee with the following additional information: 

 A copy of The Thames Vision, which set out their assessment of capacity pinch points 

along the river; and 

 Details of the environmental study undertaken by the PLA to assess the effects of NOx 

exposure on the river and on land, including on staff. 

 

Page 10



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 16 May 2018 

 

 
 

14.5 The Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers, agreed to share details with the Committee 

of the recent trial service to Gravesend.  

 

14.6 The General Manager of Sponsored Services, TfL, agreed to consider whether TfL’s Business 

Plan would include interim targets for river bus journeys and to update the Committee. 

 

14.7 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the report and the discussion be noted; and 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the output from the meeting and any related site 

visits.  

 
 
15   Date of Next Meeting (Item 15) 

 

15.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Wednesday 13 June 2018 at 10.00am, 

in the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
16   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 16) 

 

16.1 There was no other business. 

 
 
17   Close of Meeting  

 

17.1 The meeting ended at 12.19pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526; 

Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Appendix 1 

 

London Assembly Transport Committee – 16 May 2018 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 8 – Tube Delays 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Now we can get on to our first hearing of the day.  Thank 

you very much.  I welcome our guests.  We have Peter McNaught, Director of Asset Operations at 

Transport for London (TfL), and Nigel Holness, Director of Network Operations at TfL.  Thank you 

both very much for coming along today. 

 

We wanted to catch up on issues around the Tube and in particular some of the delays we have seen 

recently.  My first question to you is: is the network resilient? 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  I will start with that, 

Chair, thank you.  I would say yes, but is it as resilient as we want it to be? No.  The reason I say 

that: Nigel and I work daily, weekly, monthly at continuously trying to drive improvement in the 

performance of the Underground.  It is in our DNA, if you like.  It disappoints us and frustrates us 

that on performance of signalling, for example, last year, we saw a 3% increase in the number of 

service-affecting signal failures between last year and the year before.  However, over four years, if 

you look back as far as four years, we are still 24% better than we were, and so it is a bump in the 

road.  We are on the case.  I have recently put together my dedicated team on asset operations and I 

have a dedicated team on signals.  I have the head of signals across the whole of London 

Underground that is absolutely focused -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You said something about the four years, sorry? 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  Yes.  If you look as 

far back as four years, we have seen a 24% improvement in the number of signal failures, but last 

year we saw a 3% blip.  As I say, it is a blip.  It is unfortunate for our customers on the District and 

the Metropolitan lines in particular.  That is where we have seen some of the degradation.  Of the 

lines we have, five of the lines have actually improved in performance and five of them have seen a 

slight reduction, but the main ones that have seen an increase in service-affecting failures have been 

on the Metropolitan and the District.  It is not really a surprise.  The Metropolitan and the District 

are part of the subsurface lines (SSLs).  They are some of our oldest signalling equipment, and we do 

have a major investment project in Four Lines Modernisation (4LM) to improve that performance 

considerably and replace with modern signalling technology.  My team are not sitting around waiting 

for 4LM to come and rescue us.  We have a detailed reliability improvement plan for the SSL 

signalling to make sure that the performance gets back to where it was and possibly even better in 

advance of 4LM being introduced. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  What is your message to passengers, then, who have 

suffered serious delays?  We will get into some of the examples, but the Jubilee line the other week 

and so on.  What is your message to the millions of passengers who are really suffering delays on the 

Tube? 

 

Page 13



 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  Our message is: we 

apologise for those delays.  We do not want them to happen.  Sometimes there is pain as a result of 

the investment we are putting in the railway, and the story behind the Jubilee line in particular is an 

investment programme that we are putting in place to replace emergency power supplies across the 

network.  I do not know if you remember, but maybe midway through last year we had a particularly 

nasty failure on the south end of the Northern line where customers were badly disrupted on a 

Friday evening, and that was caused by an emergency power supply that had failed in a redundant 

way and so we did not know it was not working until it was called on to be used.  As a result of that 

failure, we took ownership of all emergency power supplies across London Underground and we put 

a project in place to make sure they were all working and replace any obsolete ones.  Unfortunately, 

at Neasden, during that process, an electrician disconnected a neutral wire, which put a voltage 

spike through the equipment and caused the failure we suffered, but we have been replacing several 

of these power supplies up until then. 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  If I could add, it just 

illustrates the importance of the work that we have been doing over many years to upgrade the 

Tube.  Peter talked briefly about the 4LM programme, and that is an example of a project which is 

trying to address the oldest parts of the network.  Committee Members may know that, for example, 

we have a signalling frame at Edgware Road which dates back to 1926 and that will be coming out 

of service soon, thankfully.  Only two weeks ago, in fact, we opened the new service control centre 

at Hammersmith, and this summer we will commission the first automatic train operation (ATO) on 

the SSLs from Hammersmith to Latimer Road.  Then, over the next couple of years, we will gradually 

switch on and switch over to the new ATO signalling system and that will help improve capacity.  We 

hope to see levels of performance that we see on the Northern line today, the Jubilee line 

notwithstanding that difficult issue a few weeks ago.  I fully appreciate and understand that. 

 

However, if you look at the lines that we have upgraded, an example is the Victoria line.  On the 

Victoria line now we have 36 trains an hour in the peaks, and so we are really looking through this 

4LM project and the investment in the Tube to continue to grow the capacity to run more trains per 

hour, to move more people with more reliability.  As I said, that just really illustrates the importance 

of the need to invest in the Tube, which means that as organisation we have to be as efficient as we 

possibly can be, driving our savings, looking at innovative ways of doing maintenance, so that we 

continue to drive the long-term performance of the Tube in the right direction. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  We have seen many severe delays on the District, Piccadilly and Circle lines this 

year, many over 15 minutes.  Looking at the briefing that we had, a lot of that is attributed to 

staffing issues.  What kind of staffing issues are causing that?  Is that the main cause of the 15-

minute-plus delays, the staffing issues? 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  It is fair to say that 

there is a wide range of issues on those lines.  It would range from things like the age of the fleet.  If 

you look at Piccadilly line trains, for example, they date back to 1973.  They are not quite the oldest 

trains that we have on the Tube, but they take a lot of amazing work from Peter’s team to keep the 

system running.  We have had some fleet issues.  We have had some customer issues. 

Page 14



 

 

 

We will also always in there have a mix of staffing issues, whether that is availability or whether that 

is illness.  Generally our staff do a great job and I have to say that but, occasionally, they get it 

wrong as well.  It is a mix of things that have caused problems on those lines. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  In relation to the staffing issues, is it that you do not have enough staff or is it 

that they do not perform as well as they did?  Historically there has not always been a problem and 

so why is it a problem now? 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  We are trying to be 

as efficient as possible.  I would say that, on the side of resourcing, the Piccadilly line, again, is a 

case in point.  It is what we call a “feeder line” to the London Underground and so it gets a huge 

amount of turnover, new drivers coming in, new drivers then staying with the line for period time 

and moving on, and we have to make sure that we get the pipeline of recruitment right.  I would say 

that, going back a year or two, perhaps one or two decisions were made about the level of 

resourcing which reflected itself in a number of availability-related delays through the summer.  

What I would say is that we are in the best position now that we have been in for two years on 

availability and staff-related errors and so I would like to think that we have come out of that.  That 

particularly affected the Piccadilly line and one or two other lines. 

 

As a more general point about the District line and the Circle line, again, both Peter and I would 

accept and apologise for the performance of those lines in the last few months.  It is a blip, but they 

are the oldest parts of the network.  They are undergoing surgery, actually, as we do 4LM.  The 

future is bright but the journey on to that destination can be quite painful at times.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Was the investment in the Piccadilly line not put back a little while ago?  Was 

there not some delay or deferral in the upgrading, I seem to recall?  Is that right? 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  It has moved 

around, the Piccadilly line upgrade as part of the Deep Tube [Upgrade Programme] has moved 

around in recent years, but we are hoping now that we are very close to being able to confirm some 

more investment on the Piccadilly line in particular.  We do need to see a new train there.  It is an old 

mechanical-type train.  As I said, Peter’s team does a great job keeping it going, but what we really 

need to get to is similar to what we have on the SSLs with a walk-through, airconditioned Tube, and 

that is really the goal for the Deep Tube Programme. 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  Certainly, it is worth 

mentioning as well with regard to the signalling system on the Piccadilly line that my team and our 

research and project team over the last year replaced the old programming machines to greatly 

improve the reliability.  If you look back to probably September-October time, the Piccadilly line was 

suffering just as badly as the District line, but that performance has considerably improved because 

we finished that project and we are not seeing those signalling errors that we were experiencing just 

to the sheer age of the old programming machines. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  When are we likely to see the improvements on the District line, then? 

 

Page 15



 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  On the District line, 

I have a list of things to probably help you, if I take you through what my team are doing to try to 

bring up the District line while we wait for 4LM to come. 

 

If you imagine, there are probably a few main areas that cause signal failures or are reported where 

the symptom is a signal failure.  One is points or the point mechanisms, and so around the SSLs we 

are replacing 2,300 point indication pins on our four-foot point mechanisms, which is the most 

common failure mode on those point mechanisms, and that will be done by September [2018]. 

 

We also have a mitigation programme for 249 of the Surelock point mechanisms.  That is a new 

model and point mechanism we have fitted which has many benefits but it has a couple of reliability 

flaws with it, and so we are going back around those 249 sets of points to make sure that those 

problems are eliminated.  We have already eliminated all of those problems on every line apart from 

the District line and we are working through the District line now to bring that to a close on the 

District line as well. 

 

We have also introduced three dedicated complete point care teams on the SSLs because points are 

where tracks and signals come together.  What you can get are signalling teams attending a set of 

points, setting it up perfectly and walking away saying, “It all works fine”, but if the points are 

sitting on uneven track, as soon as the train goes over it, you get all sorts of problems.  These 

dedicated complete point care teams attend a set of points, set it up and make sure the track form 

underneath it is proper so that they walk away and that asset works properly.  They are working 

around the SSLs and around 55 critical ends of points and they are doing that over the summer 

period to make sure those points are working properly. 

 

If I move on, then, to train stops, on the old subsystem signalling, where you have a red light, you 

also have the protection system of a train stop that flicks up so that, if the train goes through the 

red light, it slams the emergency brakes on the train.  Train stops also cause a number of failures on 

the railway.  They are air-operated and they leak air, which results in it not operating properly and 

manifesting itself as a red signal because the system fails safe.  We are going around and we are 

replacing 1,322 pneumatic motors across the SSLs; 947 of those are on the SSLs.  We are doing that 

over the next year.  In addition to that, we have targeted replacement of the contact boxes in the 

train stops because that is a failure mode of the train stops. 

 

It is worth pointing out that of all the signal failures we have, 37% of them are caught at start of 

traffic: the railway goes to bed working and it wakes up not working.  It is no coincidence that every 

night between 4,000 and 7,000 human beings access our track every night to do maintenance or 

project work.  By no means all of those people are signalling experts.  Some of them are doing civil 

inspections; some of them are installing new cable for the 4LM project.  What we have is those 

people inadvertently stepping on things and damaging things, and then you go to switch the railway 

on in the morning and it does not work. 

 

We have a big focus to work through and improve start of traffic.  That starts with working with my 

colleagues in Nigel’s organisation, who run service control.  If you imagine the Fat Controller running 

the railway network, in the middle of the night those people are still on duty.  What we have set up 

is a call at 4.00 am in the morning when each of those service controllers on every network has the 

Page 16



 

 

responsibility to check that every single signalling track socket is operational.  If any of them are 

down, every one of those 7,000 possible groups of people on the track have a Connect radio and so 

we can get in touch with them to find out whether it is something they are doing that is causing this 

failure and whether it will be fixed in time for start of traffic. 

 

We are also looking to tidy up our network.  There has been a lot of things done in the past by 

previous projects and renewals where scrap has not been removed from the railway.  We are taking 

the opportunity to tidy our railway at key intersecting junctions.  We call them “critical assets”.  We 

are removing scrap.  If you take Acton Town, for example, we have already removed 260 tonnes of 

scrap from the Acton Town area.  Our plan is to make these critical asset areas, which have been 

some of our most untidy areas, our best shining example areas. 

 

The other thing is we are putting strict control in place for what we call “critical jobs”.  A critical job 

may be because of the complexity.  If people are ripping up the track and trying to put it back 

together in the two-and-a-half-odd hours they have during engineering hours, that is a critical job.  

Equally, a critical job might be quite a simple job but in a very high-impact area like Earls Court or 

Acton Town.  When we flag a critical job, there are all sorts of additional protections we are now 

putting in place that has to be with those people, technical officers from the signalling team to make 

sure if anything goes wrong we can fix it as quickly as possible to minimise disruption to our 

customers. 

 

The other thing is education for all these people going onto the track about the damage they can 

cause and the things they need to look for.  On top of that, we are putting in signage.  In these key 

critical asset areas, as you walk along the track and you come to one of those key areas, there will be 

signs on the track that tell you, “You are entering a key reliability area for London Underground.  

Take care.  Report any damage.  Do not leave things lying around”. 

 

We are also looking to utilise the public address systems in the stations.  If you imagine, we use them 

for our customers through the day to tell them about taking care.  We are looking to start to use 

them to remind all the people coming on and off the railway, “Have you made sure that you have 

reported any damage?  Please take care.  You are entering a critical area.  Make sure that you leave 

the railway in a reliable place”. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.  Thank you.  Tightening up your processes sounds 

like it is going to work.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Just very quickly looking at the staff levels, is it possible that any of the issues 

with staffing have anything to do with the TfL Transformation Programme or is that something that 

would not affect any of these issues under staffing? 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  To Nigel’s point, it is 

probably helpful to explain what a “feeder line” is.  When train operators apply for a job with London 

Underground, they get allocated to a line but, because the Piccadilly line is a manually controlled 

train and so is the District line, people tend to want to move away from a manually controlled train 

to get onto an automatic train because it is easier.  It is less difficult with less chance of having a 

spark. What we see is a migration of train operators from those lines to the automatic lines and the 

Page 17



 

 

new recruits end up coming into the Piccadilly and District lines.  In answer to your question, it is 

nothing to do with the transformation.  We have had an issue with feeding -- 

 

Tom Copley AM:  That issue is to do with the train drivers and things, not to do with staffing to do 

with engineering or anything like that? 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  In fact, our frontline 

staff are not involved in this transformation work that we are doing to make TfL more efficient. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Joanne, you wanted to pick up? 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Yes, it nicely follows on from that because my constituents rely on the 

Piccadilly line.  Thankfully, recently, at the northern end rather than the southern end.  Could you 

just update us as to the procurement of your new trains?  Is that still on track? 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  It is still on track.  It 

has not been announced yet, I do not think, and -- 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Are we still waiting? 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  -- I am excluded 

from knowing which supplier it is.  They all have codenames.  It has not been announced yet, but I 

believe the announcement is going to be soon, this month, I think. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  It is still on track? 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  It is still on track. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.  Thank you. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Good morning, gentlemen.  You made a comment earlier on about an 

electrician reconnecting something wrongly on that earth line, I think you said, and that putting 

stuff down, but is there anything particularly wrong with the power supply that is leading to so many 

failures?  How are you managing your relationship with UK Power Networks? 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  I can have a go, but 

I guess it is predominantly Peter’s area.  We have a pretty resilient supply.  For example, the stations 

have three levels of supply.  We have our own supply and we have the street supply and we have a 

battery backup system.  We have our own power control room and we do high-voltage switching and 

low-voltage switching, so we have a pretty diverse power supply. 

 

Page 18



 

 

The problem that comes is that still in one or two locations I guess we have the risk of a single point 

failure or the risk of somebody doing something wrong, which is effectively what has happened on 

the Jubilee line two or three weeks ago.  Thankfully, it is a very rare occurrence but, when it does go 

wrong, it is very difficult and very challenging for the organisation and of course its customers as 

well. 

 

Really, we are thoroughly investigating that particular issue.  There is a formal investigation being 

carried out right now.  It will be completed by the end of the month and that will identify some 

recommendations, probably around control of work, control of access, better planning and these 

sorts of things because they have been indicated as the causes of that particular failure.  However, 

generally our power supply is very strong and very resilient. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Peter, do you have anything you want to add? 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  No.  Nigel has 

covered it.  I can think of examples and, actually, part of the role of the emergency power supply I 

spoke about is that if one power supply fails, this device switches across to a second power supply, 

and so we have dual power supply to all our stations, etc.  If we develop a problem - sometimes I 

might get reports of lifts and escalators not being as reliable as we want them to be because of 

ripple on the power supply - I will work with UK Power Networks to understand where that is coming 

from, but while we are doing that I will switch the device of course to run from our other supply 

while we put instrumentation on the supply to understand the cause. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Thank you for that.  Are some of the delays we are experiencing the 

consequences of reduced maintenance spend?  By some estimations, the maintenance spend has 

reduced by almost £6 million.  Is that having any onward effect?  It seems like quite a large sum. 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  I do not think so at 

all.  I am in charge of all of the asset areas and it is me who has been working to reduce how we 

spend the money and what money we spend.  One of the areas that we insisted that our efficiency 

programme did not affect was safety or reliability.  It is not allowed to affect that and so we have not 

cut from the frontline maintenance.  We have saved a lot of money in some of our external contracts 

and we have brought work in-house and we have looked at how we can do things more efficiently, 

but we have not reduced the actual maintenance that we do, if that makes sense. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  You are very confident that your current programme of cost-saving has 

generated that saving rather than it disappearing from your budget and that causing you any 

difficulties? 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  That is correct. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  OK.  Thanks, Chair. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.  Thank you very much.  And then Navin on this 

weekend? 

 

Page 19



 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Yes, thank you, Chair.  Match and event days at Wembley Stadium, as we all 

know, are always very challenging and complex in normal days.  This Saturday, we have the Football 

Association Challenge (FA) Cup final at Wembley Stadium with a London club involved, as well as 

the Royal Wedding with street parties and it is going to be really buzzing in that area.  Do you think 

it is wise to have not - and should you not have - suspended plant engineering works over this 

weekend?  That is going to contribute a huge problem both operationally as well as to the 

communities and neighbourhoods and people going to the Stadium, as well as the other flow of 

traffic. 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  The decision on 

when we hold planned closures for essential engineering works is never an easy one.  We have been 

talking about the District line performance and reliability and this weekend sees a closure 

predominately on the District and Circle lines, which is doing some really essential work for us 

around Earls Court, Gloucester Road, Fulham Broadway, Putney and West Kensington.  There is a 

significant amount of work that is going on this weekend. 

 

Thankfully, the vast majority of TfL services are running and certainly, if you look at some of the 

specific locations, Wembley will be fully served by the Metropolitan line, it will be fully served by the 

Jubilee line, and of course the Bakerloo line also be serving Wembley Central.  The Metropolitan and 

Jubilee lines will be running a full service up there and we will do our usual matchday work there. 

 

If we look at the Royal Wedding, clearly, it is in Windsor.  These closures were planned.  The 

planning for these is about a year to two years in advance.  A lot of planning goes into these and of 

course we are very conscious of the impact on communities and customers and the need to keep 

London moving, really.  We have worked very closely with Network Rail and the train operators to 

make sure people can get to and from Windsor.  Again, Paddington will be served by the Circle and 

Hammersmith lines and Waterloo will be served by the Northern line, the Bakerloo line and the 

Jubilee line, and so people will be able to come and go from Windsor. 

 

It is not easy to find a place where we can do this work in what is a massively packed calendar of 

events for London.  We need to avoid football matches.  We need to avoid, in this particular area, 

things like Wimbledon coming up, the Queen’s Club [Championships] tennis coming up, Polo in the 

Park coming up and lots of events in Hyde Park, and of course we have to fit in other closures; for 

example, the 4LM.  Really, this is all about ensuring that we continue to have a safe and reliable 

railway. 

 

Having reviewed this after the date of the Royal Wedding was announced, we are still confident that 

it is OK for us to have this closure and get this important work done.  As I said, the vast majority of 

our services will be running and we will have additional staff out there, particularly at the key 

locations, supporting people who are traveling in and around London. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  This is going to be an exceptional day, albeit one day, but given the large number 

of passengers on Saturday and generally over the weekend, are you confident that you are going to 

be able to deal with the increase in passengers on the network? 

 

Page 20



 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  I am confident, 

actually.  We did look back at the last Royal Wedding at Windsor with Prince Charles and 

Camilla Parker Bowles, and we have looked at the gate line data that we collected on people, and we 

factored that into the decision.  There was no discernible impact on people around that time 

travelling to and from Windsor.  We have those services running again with our National Rail 

colleagues and we are working closely with them to make sure people can get to and from Windsor 

and can get to and from the Underground.  As I say, it is a very difficult judgement and a very 

difficult balance.  We do need to get this work done.  It is essential.  It is about the underlying 

reliability of the Tube and the things that we have just been talking about.  It is difficult to balance it 

and find a space in a busy calendar.  If you look forward at the closures through the summer, almost 

every weekend we have vital works going on and it is really very difficult in a very busy calendar to 

find the right place to do this work. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Are you able to give an absolute assurance to my residents in Brent living in and 

around the Wembley area that you have taken adequate measures to avoid any disruption - this is 

going to be just a major day - and that there will not be any chaos or disruption that they will be 

facing? 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  I have to say I 

understand the point you are making.  We are very experienced at handling events at Wembley and 

other locations and we are very confident in our plans to get people to and from the football very 

safely on Saturday. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Is there a number that people can dial if they have issues arising from that? 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  People can contact 

the TfL customer contact centre.  It is advertised very widely on the Tube.  I cannot quite remember 

what the number is myself, but people can do that.  They can write to us, they can email us and they 

can call us if they have any concerns.  All of our stations are all staffed as well and so I encourage 

people to ask any member of station staff if they have any concerns.  We are running full services on 

those lines that are serving Wembley at the weekend as well as Paddington and Waterloo. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  I am still concerned about the planned engineering works.  What would be the 

consequence of halting that work, certainly for Saturday?  Is it not doable?  Will it disrupt and 

destroy your complete management plan or whatever operational arrangements you have made? 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  At this point, it is 

not the primary consideration but it is an important consideration that the cost of abortive works will 

be significant.  Far more importantly, we are doing work on track renewal.  I have the detail here, but 

it is points and crossings work, track renewal at Earls Court, track renewal at Gloucester Road, work 

around Parsons Green, West Brompton, Wimbledon and East Putney.  There are millions of millions 

of pounds being spent on the reliability of the District line to ensure that it is better for customers.  

Therefore, again, having evaluated this and re-evaluated it after the date of the Royal Wedding was 

announced, we are confident that, balancing all of these factors together, it is the best time to do 

the work.  We are confident that people can get to the football and we are confident that people 

can use Paddington and Waterloo to get out and back to the Royal Wedding. 

Page 21



 

 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  It is worth pointing 

out in support of Nigel -- 

 

Navin Shah AM:  It will be no more than what you generally find in the conditions when you have 

matches or major events at Wembley Stadium.  Is that what you are telling me? 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  Yes.  We have had 

closures before that have coincided with matches at Wembley Stadium.  Even this season -- 

 

Navin Shah AM:  No, here we are talking about the Royal Wedding as well. 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  Yes.  Taking the 

match first of all, Tottenham Hotspur has been playing at Wembley all season and has sold out 

virtually every game, and so we are very well practiced at managing that.  Of course, we have 

managed that in and around closures of the Underground as well when we have had to get essential 

maintenance work. 

 

I can only really go back to my last point, which was that we have looked at the data for the last 

Royal Wedding at Windsor, we have looked at the planned closures, we have looked at the services 

that we have supporting Waterloo and Paddington to get to and from Windsor, and we have worked 

closely with Network Rail on its closure programme and the train operators - South Western 

Railways, Southeastern and Great Western - to ensure that we have a really joined-up approach and 

get people to and from the Royal Wedding. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I have quite a lot of Members wanting to come in, but the 

scale of this wedding is rather different to Prince Charles’s wedding in Windsor and it is more akin to 

Katherine and William’s.  It is not just about people getting to Windsor; it is people going to events 

in London, going to see family and using the wedding as an occasion to get together and celebrate.  

It is about Londoners getting around to see their families and friends and go to events, not just 

people wanting to go to Windsor. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  There is the FA Cup as well on the same day. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It is the same with the FA Cup.  People use that [route], 

quite.  I just wanted to pick up before I bring in other Members: what additional staff are you 

putting on at key stations such as Waterloo, such as Clapham Junction and the like, where people 

will be using the Overground and the Underground to then go out to perhaps Windsor and places?  

What links do you have with Network Rail?  Too often - and I raise this a lot through Mayor’s 

Questions - you have closures at the same time as Network Rail.  In west London, huge chunks are 

out when trying to get to Ealing from central London.  It is impossible because both of you are doing 

works at the same time. 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  We have worked 

very closely with Network Rail on this weekend’s services and in particular with the train operators 

we have been working at managing director level to ensure that we have a seamless approach.  We 

Page 22



 

 

have looked at the key pinch points - I will not go over them again - and we have checked to ensure 

that we have enough staff.  On TfL we will supplement our existing staff at Waterloo and at 

Paddington, for example, both with our regular operational staff and also with our TfL Ambassadors.  

These are voluntary staff who will go out and help support customers as well.  Therefore, we are 

confident that the staffing levels will be adequate. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That is great.  On this particular point, before I bring 

Florence [Eshalomi AM] in on a different one, Keith [Prince AM] and Caroline [Russell AM] also 

wanted to come in. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  No, it is fine. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  It is almost completely covered, but I just want to know what evidence you 

have that this Royal Wedding will be the same levels of people wanting to move around as the one 

of Prince Charles a few years ago.  This seems to be at such a much bigger scale. 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  The main data we 

have used is gate line data of people tapping in and tapping out to look at people moving across 

London and moving to and from Windsor -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That is making the assumption this wedding is the same size in terms of 

people wanting to move.  Have you modelled a scenario where many more people are travelling? 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  I cannot explicitly 

say that here.  What we will do is we will provide some evidence to you outside of the meeting of the 

approach that we have taken to assess the impact of this Royal Wedding on central London. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Thank you.  She is an international television (TV) star, is she not?  

That just adds another level of interest from people.  A separate issue before we close, Florence? 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  It is a separate issue but it is linked to delays and work.  

You will be aware that the Bank branch of the Northern line at Kennington will be closed for a 

period of 16 weeks.  Chair, I should declare an interest because that is the station that I use to 

commute here in the morning and so, obviously, I would want that work to be speedily completed. 

 

I have been discussing this with other colleagues in TfL, but just going back to the first question 

from the Chair to you, Peter, in terms of the additional stations that we are going to be asking 

commuters to use, mainly Elephant and Castle, Oval and Waterloo, which we know are already 

bursting at the seams at peak times, the closure is going to start on 26 May [2018] , which is a 

Saturday, and then we fall into that half-term weekend.  The real test is going to be on         

Monday, 4 June [2018], when everyone is going back to work and school.  Is the network going to 

be resilient for that closure? 

 

Peter McNaught (Director of Asset Operations, Transport for London):  Yes.  We, in addition 

to Nigel, first of all taking the weekend just coming, are putting additional technical officers on 

duty.  These are our insurance policy people who are spread across the network in the event of any 

Page 23



 

 

failure.  Equally, on 4 June, we will have additional resource available to attend and deal with any 

failure if one occurs. 

 

On the Network Rail point, it is also worth mentioning that in our London Underground Control 

Centre (LUCC) at Palestra, we have a permanent member of Network Rail now in there.  That link is 

absolute in real time with anything with Network Rail so that, if they have a problem, we know about 

it and we can deal with it and we can work across our stations to help move the flow of customers 

and deal with it. 

 

Nigel Holness (Director of Network Operations, Transport for London):  Can I pick up the 

Bank particular issue?  The work at Bank at Kennington is part of the Northern line extension and we 

have to create some new passageways there.  We have extensively looked at the different options 

for doing the work, from engineering work to weekend closures.  We looked at the cost options.  We 

looked at the safety issues: can we keep those platforms open?  We were down there on a site visit 

only the other week.  Our conclusion is that this is the best way and this is the optimum way to get 

the work done.  I do accept that there is significant disruption, but this is all about improving the 

overall performance of the Northern line and supporting the Northern line extension. 

 

Again, the destination is worth the journey, but it will be challenging for people.  We are putting a 

huge amount of effort into what we call travel demand management publicity and so people will see 

the yellow flash stickers around the Underground and hear announcements.  There will be additional 

staff.  We will be absolutely monitoring it very closely to make sure that it is safe. 

 

We have to get the work done and so I would apologise for the disruption that it is going to cause 

you and other customers who use Kennington.  It is never easy on a system that is very old and is 

very busy, but we will do our very best to get the work done as quickly as possible and we will be 

monitoring it very closely. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  That is good.  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.  Thank you very much, Peter and Nigel, for your 

openness this morning and answers to our questions.  If there is anything further, we will write to 

you to perhaps get some of that real detail on the lines that you set out, Peter, so that we have that 

on record.  Thank you very much for your time.   

Page 24



Appendix 2 

London Assembly Transport Committee – 16 May 2018 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 9 – River Bus Services  
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I welcome our second panel of guests today, [for our discussion] 

which is looking at the river and river services, particularly thinking about passengers using the river.  If I can 

just welcome our guests today, I am going to start on this side.  We have Emma McFarlane, who is a 

passenger representative and works closely with Thames Clippers; Sean Collins, who has been before the 

Committee before, Managing Director of MBNA Thames Clippers; and Danny Price, who is the General 

Manager of Sponsored Services at Transport for London (TfL).  You look after all the river services and 

piers? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  That includes river 

services, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Fantastic.  And Robin Mortimer is Chief Executive of the Port of 

London Authority (PLA).  Welcome.  Thank you for coming today.  Sorry, we are slightly behind.  Our 

questions on the Tube and issues with the Royal Wedding and the like this weekend slightly overran. 

 

If I could start off our questions, we have done some work previously on the river and I know many of us are 

interested in it.  It is a question to you all.  How will you or can we increase the number of commuter or 

regular passenger journeys on the Thames?  Who would like to start?  Actually, I am going to go to Thames 

Clippers first because you provide the service.  How can that be done? 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  We always manage to fill boats in 

commuter periods, unsurprisingly.  We are very different to any other form of transport in that we are 

limited in the number of passengers that we can physically carry.  Every passenger by regulation has to have 

a seat and so the physical capacity is limited.  That said, you can add as many boats, within reason, to the 

service and that is regulated by the PLA and London River Services (LRS). 

 

However, at the moment, one of the biggest problems we have is congestion in the central section, 

arguably, between Tower Bridge and Westminster.  That congestion is predominately around piers.  More 

pier space in central London is vitally needed before we can consider further expansion of services to the 

east and the west to bring those commuters in.  There are significant demands at certain times on the 

service from a leisure and tourism perspective.  We operate 25 kilometres and 22 piers and many of those 

piers have an amazing cultural connection along the river.  Therefore, there is good demand in that sector as 

well. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Can I just go back to what you were saying on congestion in the 

central section?  Is that just at peak times?  Surely some of the other river services which we are not 

particularly focusing on like the tourist boats would not be operating at peak times.  What is the issue with 

the pier capacity? 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  No, if you take Embankment Pier, for 

instance, we have three services combined there in in the morning and the afternoon, three in the morning 

Page 25



 

 

and two in the evening.  That is because in the evening we have purposely tried to combine two services to 

limit the amount of boats we have going in and out of the pier.  We literally do not even have enough space 

between our own services let alone the leisure and tourism services that have to run from that pier as well. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It is just literally the physical space at the piers, not that you have 

tourist boats alongside yours? 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  No. 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  Can I just add to that? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes. 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  Thanks, Sean.  We carried out a study 

in 2015 before we published The Thames Vision, where we said we think there is capacity to double the 

number of passenger journeys by 2035.  That study looked at the capacity constraints - if you like, how full 

the river is - and essentially the answer was that there is a lot of spare capacity in the river except at peak 

times at peak points.  As Sean said, typically around Westminster and here outside in the Pool of London 

and outside Tower [pier] are the real pinch points and, even then, it is the summer afternoon when we really 

face those constraints.  For the rest of the time and certainly outside those areas, there is enormous capacity 

for growth.  That is, if you like, the evidence base that we have to work on.  As Sean said, the key issue then 

is, particularly in those hotspots, developing the piers to enable better utilisation of the limited space. 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  I would just also like to add that five years 

ago when we were awarded the contract from TfL to run RB6, very shortly after that, four years ago, we 

worked with TfL and they put a lot of resource into demand modelling for the future.  There is a lot of 

information there that demonstrates that we forecast by 2023 our operation alone could be carrying 

7 million passengers.  Last year we carried 4.1 million and that was a growth year-on-year, again, but new 

services had been added in that period, namely the Battersea Power Station service and expansion.  We 

added more fleet and new boats to RB6.  RB6 alone has seen 36% annual growth since its commencement 

and the entire service on average, since it started 19 years ago, has seen 40% growth. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  You see real potential if we could improve some of the pier 

capacity?  You are quoted, Thames Clippers, as saying that this has the potential to be the equivalent of the 

Hammersmith & City line on the river. 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  You absolutely believe that.  And Robin at the PLA, do you support 

that?  You think there is huge potential? 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  Absolutely, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Then I come to TfL, and TfL in 2012 likened the river to a “medium-

sized suburban bus route”, which does not seem the same scale of ambitions.  Is that right, Danny, or is it 

that now you have some passion and energy behind it? 

Page 26



 

 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  There has always 

been passion and energy behind it.  We should recognise that 10 years ago the total river volume was half 

what it is today and so there has been significant progress made in growing river passenger volume.  With 

the challenge of doubling that again in 2035, there are key challenges, but, again, it has shown that 

progress has been made.  There has been a lot of investment in the pier infrastructure. 

 

We should also look at the capacity of those piers.  Within the London Pier Strategy - which TfL, the Greater 

London Authority (GLA) and boat operators as well as waterfront boroughs are working on - we recognise 

not just opportunities to increase the size of piers but also looking at timetables, looking at the efficiencies, 

looking at maybe having a more dynamic approach.  At the moment these are within the Strategy, which is 

in draft form, and are challenges and we need to put actions against them, but we need to not just look at 

the amount of infrastructure to increase.  It is about how efficient that is. 

 

Part of that is looking at the operators and how they operate from each of the piers, the time taken for 

boarding and alighting. 

 

The other thing I want to add is that the growth target to double by 2035 is about safe and sustainable 

growth, and safe has to come first.  Everyone involved in the passenger working group is very passionate 

about that.  It is one thing absolutely everyone agrees on: we have to do this safely.  Therefore, in terms of 

increasing piers, we have to look at a number of other factors including an increased amount of freight on 

the river and other challenges as well.  We are, equally, very passionate but we will do it safely. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Who leads on the river?  Is it you personally, Danny, or what team 

do you have?  In the past, from my memory, it was people from the bus team who were nearing retirement 

who went and did a year or so doing river services before they retired.  Do you have someone who is 

passionate about expanding river services? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  We have, and 

hopefully I have a little bit of time to go before retirement, we do have a team on London river services and 

it is the collaboration with the PLA and with the boat operators that make the river successful.  And it has 

that whole 10 years of driving success so why would it not continue going that way?  We have challenges 

but we need to overcome them. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  From a passenger point of view, tell us what passengers want and is 

there demand? 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  Yes, absolutely.  Just a quick point.  First of all, I would 

like to say that I do not just represent myself today.  I intend to speak to all of the passengers that I come in 

contact with on my jetty and on boats generally.  I have been trying to work with Thames Clippers to 

improve things.  We have been giving them feedback and I have also been writing to the PLA. 

 

That is one point I wanted to make this morning about the speed of the boats.  You could add lots of boats, 

but sometimes the speed that they go along the Thames has dropped drastically so that what you have is 

bicycles running along the embankment quicker than the boats.  That is very frustrating as passengers.  We 

understand why that is - because you get feedback from houseboats that there is some kind of swell coming 

Page 27



 

 

from the Clippers - but perhaps we ought to take a look at that and see whether we can speed up the 

service.  Then, of course, you would not necessarily need a huge amount of extra boats if you were turning 

around the system quicker. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes, but you talk to passengers and people contact you.  Is there a 

demand from people, particularly near the river in these new developments that they want more services? 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  Absolutely.  Anybody who lives near the river and has 

access to a jetty would take it anytime over a train or Tube. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  TfL, what targets do you have, maybe including some 

interim targets, to increase the number of river bus journeys? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  Currently, the 

Strategy aims to double them, which, again, is quite a long way off.  Within the Pier Strategy we have 

discussed recently -- and the reason I am talking about very recently is we have not long put most of the 

draft Strategy together and so there are a lot of discussions within the passenger working groups on how we 

set targets.  Sometimes, if we set an interim target every single year, all the sudden, if we cannot achieve it 

in year one, it drives the wrong - perhaps - behaviours.  What we have discussed is looking with the boat 

operators at their business targets and the rationale behind their targets and how that supports the delivery 

of, over time, doubling river growth. 

 

We did have a target to hit 12 million passenger journeys by 2020.  We are slightly behind that, looking at 

last year’s numbers, but there are a lot of good things that were happening last year with investment in 

Battersea Pier, with new boats from the likes of Thames Clippers that have invested heavily, with the full-

year benefit of Westminster Pier that was extended the previous year.  What has been successful is 

developer-led pier infrastructure - including Battersea - that has happened over the last few years and we 

will continue to support that to happen. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We are very keen as a Committee to see in the Transport Strategy 

your overall targets and to then have interim [targets], and I know a number are going to be in the Business 

Plan that comes out at the end of this calendar year.  Can we expect there to be an interim target in the 

Business Plan for river bus journeys? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  If I can politely ask 

to take that back from this Committee? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes, that is fine.  We can pick that up afterwards.  I think we would 

feel that you need to have something to be aiming for.  You cannot just have something in 5, 10, 15 or 20 

years.  You need something so you have something to be focusing your energies around. 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  As an operator, we 

would very much support that.  We need to know where we are going on an annual basis.  We cannot just 

develop people and skills and conjure up boats overnight.  We have to plan and there has to be a little bit 

more strategy in that regard. 

 

Page 28



 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK.  Could I come to you, Robin?  We have talked about, and Danny 

has mentioned, safety on the river and that is really important, but how can you manage these competing 

demands?  We want more people using it as passengers not just as tourists, as houseboats, leisure, freight, 

the environment.  Can you just give us an outline of how you manage that?  If you want to increase the use 

of the river, how are you going to manage those demands? 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  Sure.  The PLA is the safety regulator 

for the river and the other main body on the safety side is the Maritime and Coastguard Agency (MCA), 

which licenses the vessels.  We do not do the passenger vessel licensing. 

 

Overall, the safety record in the last four years has improved.  Last year there was around a 20% reduction 

in what is called “serious and very serious incidents”, which is the MCA category.  We obviously want to see 

that sustained.  So far in 2018, the record is in line with that.  Our objective is to get to zero.  That is the 

only goal you can have on the safety, is it not, to have absolutely zero incidents?  That is very much where 

we are driving. 

 

The key part of that really is the causes of incidents when we investigate.  Every incident is investigated.  

The three main causes are human error, compliance failure and mechanical error.  Those are the things we 

work on.  We work very closely with all the operators.  Last year we ran a campaign called “Human factors”, 

behaviour change, near-miss reporting, all of those things which support safe operations.  Those are the 

sorts of things we do. 

 

I would just come back to this point about the capacity issues because, if you have a system - which is what 

the river is - and you put extra demand on that system, then there is always greater risk associated with 

that.  That is why we think that dealing with these pinch points in central London is critical not just from a 

growth and economic perspective but from a safety perspective.  I would say, going back to your earlier 

question, the LRS team is very passionate, very committed and very capable.  It is fair to say, though, that 

TfL’s budget is more constrained than it previously was and the capital budgets are not necessarily there for 

the investments which were previously planned.  Therefore, we think we need to look quite creatively at the 

financing of some of these peer expansions because, if the public purse is not going to be able to provide all 

of that, how else are they going to be funded? 

 

If we take Embankment Pier as an example, TfL, I know, did a project a couple of years ago now looking at 

the costs of extending that pier and the budget for that would be between £1 million and £4 million 

depending on how you do it.  We would love for TfL to be able to finance that.  If that is not possible, then 

who does finance that?  That is the question we are currently all faced with. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK.  Do you have set out somewhere details of these pinch points 

that you think need addressing to then help capacity?  Would you be able to supply us with that? 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  Yes, absolutely.  We published the 

report before, The Thames Vision, which we can certainly send to the Committee.  It was with Marico, which 

is a consultancy, and it modelled both current river use and future river use and takes account not just of 

the river bus service but of other passenger operators, the charter and tourism operators, and freight.  On 

the freight side, with the Thames Tideway project now ramping up, we are going to see more barge 

movements and more night-time barge movements and all of that we need to take into account. 

Page 29



 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.   

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  Could I also add, just 

from a safety point of view, from TfL’s perspective, we operate and own eight of the busiest piers in London 

and we have licences with operators, and so we do recognise we have a significant influence on safety.  

Certainly, within the Pier Strategy, working very closely with the PLA, we are looking to tighten that up to 

see how we can improve that even further, maybe even looking at what goes into those licences and 

compliance with them.  That perhaps will be a little bit more intrusive, some might say, of what our own 

safety standards should be and ensure that they are applied by operators in the future. 

 

Again, as I said beforehand, within the working group forums that we have had, the passion about ensuring 

that we have a safe route comes out really strongly.  It is not just from the PLA’s policing perspective.  It 

comes from the boat operators and TfL has a key role to play in that as well. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Can you just comment on the point Robin made about the funding 

situation at TfL and perhaps a reduction in capital investment that you planned in piers? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  Sure.  Over the 

course of the business plan, we will be investing up to £1 million each year on renewal of pier infrastructure, 

as well as between £250,000 and £500,000 on pier maintenance.  Absolutely, the safety and wellbeing of 

the current piers is really important.  We have just finished life-extension work on Greenwich Pier of 

£1.3 million and so there is money in there.  However, I do appreciate the point taken, particularly on 

Embankment Pier, which Robin and I and Sean as well have discussed in some detail about opportunities.  

TfL is currently procuring some work around Embankment Pier to find out what the options are to extend it. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Great, thank you.  Sean, did you want to comment on that? 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  Yes.  I would just like to go back to the 

capacity point.  We are suffering a bit on the Thames of going through an era where it just completely died.  

There was very little traffic on it at all 25 years ago.  In the last 20 years, it has significantly grown, 

pleasingly, and it is growing more, as Robin has said, from a freight perspective.  Therefore, there does need 

to be some more thinking and some more planning and strategy as to how this can all work together. 

 

One of the things that we often get asked is why the river cannot be used more.  When I am walking to 

work or cycling to work or walking over a bridge, the river is empty, and there are a lot of commuters who 

have that perception and the river gives that perception.  We know that there are peaks and troughs in 

there and we have to start thinking as to how we can accommodate the future.  It is very pleasing to hear 

that the PLA is pushing as much freight through the night.  When you look at the railways and how busy 

they are and the relatively small tracks, how many tracks could you get out there on low tide?  Equally, we 

have to remember that the river expands and contracts in width and so we have to work on a low-tide basis 

because on the other side of it, on high water, the shore arches of the bridges are non-navigable for most 

vessels.  However, we need to look to plan as to how it can accommodate that and ensure that 

infrastructure and moorings are not put in a position that could potentially restrict the growth of such 

services in the future because that has happened in years gone by and we are now paying the price for that. 

 

Page 30



 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  For TfL, Danny has talked about some of the work that is going on, 

but do you think there is enough grip around getting this comprehensive strategy and action plan that is 

needed? 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  Yes, I do.  There was a significant change 

about five or six years ago in TfL when TfL recognised the importance - it was on the back of one of these 

meetings - and put a focus on the river and recognised that the river needed some good strong 

management.  We had that.  As we have heard, due to cutbacks, we have had a wobble.  We have had 18 

months of not-so-strong steer, but Danny does have a very good structured team there now.  Equally, the 

PLA has issued a vision now for the river that encompasses everything, not just passengers.  Therefore, I 

would like to think that everybody now is going to start talking, collaborating and working towards 

sustainable river growth, as I have just articulated. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Emma, you wanted to come in and then I have other Members who 

want to come in. 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  Yes, just on the passenger side, of course, as 

commuters, what we need is a reliable service.  Every morning when I am waiting for the 8.19am boat, I have 

a conference call at 9.00am with Russia or Iran or anywhere else and so I need to be able to get there on 

time.  When all these things are being taken into account, we must remember that.  On the other side when 

I am commuting home for the 6.02pm or whatever, if it is a nice sunny day, you suddenly get an influx of 

people that nobody recognises because it is nice and sunny and they want to go on a boat.  Often, we get 

pushed out.  If there are whole loads of tourists in front of me or people just looking to take a trip to Putney 

for the afternoon, I cannot get home on that boat after a long day at work.  That needs to be taken into 

account. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you.  I want to have a look at the environmental impacts of these river 

services.  In terms of carbon emissions, water transport is incredibly efficient.  It has 17% of the carbon 

emissions of road transport and 50% of the carbon emissions of rail transport.  However, if we look at the 

nitrogen oxide (NOx) emissions, then there is possibly more of a question there.  Because the Port of 

London Authority has done a draft Air Quality Strategy last December, would you like to say a bit about the 

situation with air pollution? 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  Sure.  It is a really important issue.  We 

published a draft Strategy and we are about to launch the final Strategy following the consultation.  I have 

just a little bit of facts and figures on it.  One of the things we did was to compare on the freight side a 

tonne of goods transported on the same journey whether by river or by heavy goods vehicle (HGV) and we 

modelled that for a number of different journeys.  As you say, on the carbon side, it is a clear winner 

because you are using tidal energy to transport the goods.  On the particulate side, it is also much improved. 

 

NOx is the real focus issue for us now.  What the study showed was that at the point at which the emissions 

are emitted, on a like-for-like comparison basis, vessels produce more NOx than the equivalent HGV.  

However, if you then do the dispersion modelling, which TfL does and which the Department for Transport 

does, to look at the air quality impacts of those emissions, because the river is wide and the traffic tends to 

Page 31



 

 

be in the middle of it, at the point you get to the receptors on the land side it is five to six times better from 

a NOx perspective.  That is quite important story in a way but it is not straightforward to tell because it is 

certainly true that the regulations around engine standards on the vessels are less strict than on the 

equivalent HGVs.  However, from an overall air quality point of view, we can safely say that the river is a 

better mode in all of those pollutants. 

 

Having said all that, we are not saying that that means that there is no problem.  At the moment, from a 

NOx perspective, the river accounts for around 1% of London’s total emissions.  If nothing else happens, if 

no other action is taken, that 1% will increase to 2% simply because there is a lot tighter regulation around 

the Low Emission Zone, etc, on the road network and because of growth in river traffic.  We will become an 

increasing part of the issue. 

 

What the Strategy basically says is that we need to get a grip on this and the first thing we need to do is to 

establish what is technologically possible.  As I say, there is a whole set of international - currently European 

- and domestic regulations around vessel engine standards.  There is an option to put additional incentives 

in place to encourage the speedy take-up of those improved, more modern standards.  That is one option 

which we are committed to looking at. 

 

The second is things like abatement technologies, particularly selective catalytic reduction (SCR).  Is it 

technically possible to fit that to vessel engines or do you have to change the engine, which can be 

prohibitively expensive?  We are committed to doing a detailed study to look at that. 

 

As I have said to many colleagues in the GLA, what we need to do is to make sure we have that evidence in 

place before we decide on the best package of regulatory and incentive measures because, at the moment, 

there is not the evidence to know which the most effective solution would be.  That is what we are 

committed to doing. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  What about exposure?  You say that by the time the NOx reaches land it is not as 

bad as living by a main road and so that is good for the people who are living alongside the river.  However, 

for the people who are working on and travelling on the boats, the exposure when the NOx is emitted is 

higher than the NOx levels on roads.  We know that the exposure for people who are, for instance, inside 

vehicles on the road is worse than the exposure of people who are outside walking along the street. 

 

Have you looked at the health impacts for both the passengers and the people who are working on those 

boats in terms of the NOx when they are exposed to it on the boats? 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  We have and this is a direct issue for us 

as an employer as well because there is a health and safety issue for our staff, many of whom work afloat.  

Over the last four months, we have been doing a study.  We put monitoring points on our vessels and we 

have been monitoring the effects of that, for which we will get the results of the end of May.  The first set 

of results we had showed that the NOx exposure was lower than on the land, again, the reason simply being 

because the emissions tend to be behind.  Therefore, the actual impact on the river we do not think is 

particularly significant, but we will have the full set of those results in a couple of weeks. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Will they be published in a couple of weeks? 

 

Page 32



 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  We can certainly share some data.  This 

was specifically an internal study to look at the impacts on our own staff, but there could be some wider 

lessons for other operators.  We will certainly be happy to share some data on that. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That is great.  

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  I would also like to add that it does not 

just stop with a simple engine and power solution.  We have reduced significantly in our recent build of 

vessels and a lot of it is to do with their design and weight.  Weight is one of the biggest issues that requires 

more power.  There are regulations that are being brought in that do not necessarily lend well to that fact.  

We want the safest boat possible, but when we have duplication of certain pieces of equipment that have 

been designed for an open-water transit where you are a long way away from land and it has just been 

blanket applied to an inland waterway, it is an area that is becoming very inefficient.  The lighter we can 

make boats and design boats in the future, the less power we are going to need to move them. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  You are saying that the boats are being constructed for travelling on open water 

and the sea -- 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  No, the regulations -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  -- to those regulations and they could be -- 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  Yes.  You could not take one of our boats 

and sail it across the Channel on a daily basis, but what I am saying is that the regulation and the 

requirements in the build have to follow the same requirements of those larger vessels.  We have to look at 

everything in the round moving forward to ensure that we are improving the efficiency of our mode. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Whilst staying safe. 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  Absolutely. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Before, Caroline, you move to your next question, could I just 

welcome pupils from Bonus Pastor Catholic College from Lewisham?  Welcome today.  This is the Transport 

Committee and today we are looking at river services and looking at how we can increase the number of 

passengers who are using the river as a way of getting to work or going about London.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  My next question, a slight shift in emphasis here, is whether there is any potential 

for a demand-responsive river taxi service.  Now, having heard earlier about the congestion on the piers, I 

was thinking that that probably blows that idea out of the water.  However, just to investigate it, I gather 

that the Mayor has had some conversations with a company called SeaBubbles, which has been talking to 

Paris.  It is some kind of hydrofoil taxi service that would work a bit like Uber.  It has room for a pilot and 

four passengers.  It does not seem to be happening in Paris, but what is your response to this idea? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  We are discussing it.  

Someone has approached us with an idea of a taxi on the river.  It is not the first time we have been 

approached.  It would be quite an interesting concept.  I am particularly interested in Sean’s response to 

Page 33



 

 

this.  Arguably, we have private hire vessels there.  It is not quite on demand, but if you want to hire at 

relatively reasonable expense - or some would say reasonable value - you can hire small vessels to take you 

from one place to another.  That does take quite an advanced booking system and we help support that 

with those boat operators, but no river taxi as of yet. 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  I was just going to add that we are also 

going to look at that and that particular one.  I have to say that sometimes we are surprised when we get 

approaches for not just river taxis but other river uses.  Companies are not always aware of the basics of the 

River Thames, particularly the tidal flow.  You can have a taxi which will work brilliantly on a lake or an 

impounded river where there is no tide, but it is pretty quick.  You only have to stand and look over London 

Bridge to see how fast the tide moves.  You need a lot of power in that environment to be safe.  Whether or 

not this particular proposal is viable I do not know at the moment, but that is one of the things we need to 

look at. 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  I am all for it.  The more the river is used 

and the more the river becomes a focal point, the better it is going to be for everybody, but we do need to 

come back to safety and commercial viability.  As Robin said, it is a very fast-flowing river.  There is not a 

day or a week that goes past that we do not get a fouled jet or a fouled prop just because of the debris that 

gets washed into the river further upriver during heavy rain seasons and things like that.  The smaller boats 

are always going to be very much more susceptible to damage and breakdown. 

 

Then, from a commercial perspective, I would struggle to see how it would be viable without very excessive 

fares, purely because of the fact that the regulation requires that you have to have two people, even with a 

vessel of four passengers.  Unless the captain can dock the vessel and let the passengers off without leaving 

the conning position, then he or she needs a second person to assist with that.  It would require best boat 

docks as well and that is a positive because what you do not want is a lot of small boats buzzing around 

piers where there are bigger boats because that is when incidents could happen.  If it were to happen, it 

would be great for them to have smaller dedicated piers and docks that may be able to add to their 

efficiency as well. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  If you were trying to address the issue that Emma raised earlier of turning up and 

finding there was not enough capacity on the boat to get home, if you were starting that from scratch, you 

would make sure that you provided more of the big boats rather than trying to set up little demand-

responsive boats? 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  Absolutely, and then, going back to your 

environmental point and as Robin touched on, you would need fairly significant power to move four people 

at a speed that is going to be acceptable to the customer. 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  You can watch the bicycles going by, yes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes.  What is your view as a customer, Emma? 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  It is the same thing: I need reliability and I need to get 

to work on time and I need speed.  Small boats are fine if they can compete with the Thames Clippers but, 

right now, I am not sure that that is the case.  I know how fast that river runs.  If you stand on any jetty 

Page 34



 

 

when the tide is changing and the tide is coming back in, those houseboats and other jetties are thrown 

around massively.  It is a very fast-moving river. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  It is a question to Danny, really, but it is probably a bit unfair and he probably will not 

know the answer, but you are here from TfL today.  As we know, the diesel engines on the boats are not 

Euro 6 and so are there plans to make them subject to the Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) when it is 

introduced because they will be within the ULEZ?  Also, why is it that they are not subject to the T-Charge 

as well? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  I will satisfy your 

question by saying that I cannot answer that one.  What I can say is that Thames Clippers and TfL are 

working on an emission abatement trial.  We are just going through the project discussions, but this would 

be funded by TfL.  It is at least to see what it is we can do to support what can be done there. 

 

I will also mention that we will be welcoming two new Woolwich Ferry vessels towards the end of this 

calendar year with improved pollution levels.  At 1.00am this morning, I was told that they float, which is 

really good news. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That is reassuring, I suppose, yes. 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  Just to follow up on that, we did look 

at this in our Air Quality Strategy.  The regulation is pretty Byzantine.  There is International Maritime 

Organization (IMO) regulation, there are European Union (EU) inland waterway vessel standards, there are 

UK-level, and they are just basically different from the Euro standards that are applied on the road.  One of 

our messages, really, in the Strategy is to make sure that we explore what the art of the possible is first in 

terms of abatement of the emissions on these vessels because, if you were simply to apply the same regime 

as are on the ULEZ and the T-Charge, the risk is that you drive traffic off the river.  Particularly when it 

comes to freight, that will then go on the road.  As I have just explained earlier, the emissions of carbon 

particulates and NOx would all be worse.  The perverse consequence of ineffective regulation on the river 

would be to worsen London’s air quality. 

 

Therefore, what we think we need to do is to build up the evidence base and then look at a river-specific set 

of incentives and regulation which will work rather than something which gets translated directly from the 

road system. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  It is a fair point that no regard is being given to small businesses and people on low 

incomes when this charge is being levied. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK.  Let us keep the focus on the river.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  This follows on from that about the standards and something Sean said earlier 

about boat manufacturers.  You cannot just go and purchase a new boat with a better engine.  Has TfL 

done any lobbying to manufacturers, as it does with motor vehicles, to try to get them to offer something 

different? 

 

Page 35



 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  To be fair to the manufacturers, their 

hands are tied from a construction perspective.  They have to build to a standard.  Our vessels are built to 

the High Speed Craft Code, which is an international code predominantly designed for international 

voyages, and it has been applied to our operation from an inland waterway perspective. 

 

Ironically, we have exactly the same engine in our boats that is in a coach in a Euro 6 environment.  For 

some reason, it is just graded differently because it is marine.  It is exactly the same engine.  We are 

lobbying those manufacturers even to the point that we have just placed an order for a new boat and we 

were trying to get the suppliers to compete on what they could provide us not on price but on air quality.  

As Robin articulated, the marine industry internationally is slightly behind the land drivers. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  It would seem to me that TfL with lobbying and whatever, if you could get 

somethings that could be held up as a best-practice example, it might shift it.  It would be interesting to 

see, Danny, whether TfL are prepared to do anything about that. 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  We will take that 

back.  We have worked quite closely with Thames Clippers about what it is we can do jointly because we find 

the resource as it is on the river has an expertise which TfL can bring in to help with that.  We will take the 

particular lobbying point. 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  There has just been a significant amount 

of funding from the EU to a Norwegian-led organisation that we have been asked to be part of and have 

agreed to be part of that.  They are looking at designing the future vessel and have chosen us above any 

other operator in Europe because of the complexities of the Thames.  We heard about the speed of the tide, 

the lack of height of bridges at high water and the lack of water at low water.  They have chosen us because 

we are such a difficult box to tick to ensure that whatever is developed can be utilised pretty much on any 

waterway.  There are some very good organisations internationally that are involved in that.  Wärtsilä is the 

engine manufacturer that is going to play a part in the technology that will operate. 

 

Battery power is an obvious answer, but currently, as I articulated earlier, weight is an issue.  They have to 

be buoyant and they have to be safe.  If you add the batteries that are needed to propel the vessel, then 

you cannot carry any passengers. 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  We have just been through the Official 

Journal of the European Union process on procuring a pilot cutter.  This is operating outside the London 

boundary, taking the pilots out to service the big ships that come into the port.  We are trying to procure 

what we think is the world’s first hybrid pilot cutter because they have to operate in quite heavy waters at 

speed.  It is a commercial process, but the only bid and the successful bid in that process was from a British 

boatyard, which can build that for us, which is great.  The technology is developing and hybrid in particular 

could offer a solution to some of these issues. 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  What TfL will 

consider or certainly within the London Pier Strategy is what we do with the pier infrastructure to enable 

this and how we influence operators within licence fees and all those sorts of things to encourage improved 

emissions. 

 

Page 36



 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  They may have to plan for electric charging points as well. 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  We have actually only yesterday installed 

a new pier at our base that is going to provide electric power for the entire fleet overnight and so there will 

be no generators running.  All the engineers’ overnight works will all be carried out being supported 100% 

by electric.  There are a lot of things that we are doing to improve. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK.  Let us move on now to talk about passengers and how we can 

improve their experience.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you, Chair, and good morning.  I will first of all direct my questions at Emma 

because you are a passenger representative.  Just in general terms, what do you think would make river bus 

services better for passengers? 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  How can I describe it to you?  You queue up.  You get 

on the boat.  You have a lovely seat.  You may or may not get a window seat.  If you are feeling thirsty, you 

pop in and have a coffee, a tea, a pastry, something hot.  If you have had a bad day at work, at the end of 

the day you get back on the boat and you can have a gin and tonic.  I cannot really complain.  The 

experience itself is amazing and everybody I have spoken to - and I have spoken to a lot of passengers - has 

really loved the service. 

 

What they need, as I have already said to you ad nauseam, is reliability and speed to get to work on time.  

That is it, really.  They need to be able to get on the boat, obviously. 

 

David Kurten AM:  You make it sound like the most luxurious method of travel. 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  No, really, please, if you all have a chance to go on the 

boat to work one day, please try it. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Fantastic.  What about the frequency of the service?  Is that an issue as well as 

reliability? 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  Again, the Thames is quite long and people commuting 

from Putney have to get all the way to Canary Wharf, for example.  It is quite a long journey and so there is 

a restriction on that side, but I have an option from my jetty at Cadogan, which is Albert Bridge.  I live in 

Battersea.  I cross through the park over the bridge to Cadogan.  Basically, I have a 7.56am, an 8.02am, an 

8.19am and an 8.56am.  That generally covers us, but of course we would always like to have more.  We are 

greedy passengers, so to say. 

 

David Kurten AM:  That sounds as though there are more services in the peak times and then, as you get 

to the end, there is a lower frequency? 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  Correct, yes. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I understand there has been a new timetable implemented at the end of April.  Have 

there been any issues with that at all that you can think of? 

Page 37



 

 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  On the passenger side, I would not say so.  We did lose a 

service that ran from Vauxhall at the weekends and up to Tower and Swan, but that has been replaced by 

Battersea Power Station, which is lovely.  I use that quite frequently and others do as well.  It is great to 

have that opportunity.  People are asking if we can have services during the week.  That is a different 

question that we will have to look at. 

 

David Kurten AM:  How about the fare structure?  At the moment, I understand, it is not that well 

integrated into the whole TfL structure in that it does not count towards pay-as-you-go.  Is that correct?  Is 

there any way that the fare structure could make travelling by boat or river bus more attractive to 

passengers, do you think? 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  Personally, I use the Thames Clippers app.  I have that 

on my phone and then I would just load up on a weekly basis my weekly Travelcard if I need it or a single or 

whatever.  Other people do use their credit cards and just direct debit.  I have seen people with Oyster cards 

that they have loaded up and put money on there.  As far as I understand it, it is open to all.  If you pitch up 

with cash, that is slightly more difficult.  Say if the boat was there, you would have to rush and try to buy a 

ticket in time.  You may or may not be able to do that on time. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Danny, do you have any comments about that?  At the moment, it does not count 

towards the pay-as-you-go capping system.  That is what I mean.  Is that something you are thinking of 

introducing in the future or not? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  It has to be 

economically viable to do that, similar to cycle hire and cable car, in a way, as to how those areas are funded 

or indeed if it would need to be a subsidy.  The connectivity with TfL is really important and that is a key 

focus area.  Just generally, people see the river as a line and as transport link and very much on par with 

other forms of transport.  That is a key focus that we are looking into at the moment. 

 

Access to tickets, as you say, for those in the know who know how to download and particularly with the 

river bus service, that works quite well, but for a number of visitors to London there are still challenges.  If 

you were to walk outside Westminster Station and you were faced with a row of ticket vending units, it 

could be quite a confusing proposition.  These are some of the key areas of customer experience that we 

will be looking at within the London Pier Strategy.  The view is, even if it is not integrated with the wider 

TfL offering, contactless is obviously a familiar message.  For those other operators and river tours, it is also 

ensuring that people know they can purchase tickets in advance through a variety of means and getting that 

done before people arrive.  

 

David Kurten AM:  Sticking on connectivity, in your TfL Journey Planner, I understand that sometimes 

river buses do not come up unless the user specifically asks it to show the river journeys.  For example, there 

might be an option that is quicker from one point to one point, but it does not come up in the initial search.  

Is that something that you are looking at? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  It comes as a default 

for the fastest journey, but that is something that we are discussing in terms of how the river connects.  

Again, it is like cycle hire and like cable car, in a way, because they all sit with my team, but in TfL we have 

Page 38



 

 

to look at how we communicate those options so that people can see the river is a viable option.  If it is 

scrolling down and it is not there on the first page of options of transport from one place to another, it does 

make it more challenging.  We are looking at how we promote the river internally and also how we connect 

key transport hubs, the communication and the wayfinding.  I am pleased that we have put aside around 

£100,000 to improve some signage and paying points to help promote wayfinding in some key locations on 

the river, just to improve the identification of where the piers are. 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  Just to say that word of mouth is very important as well.  

There have been articles in the Evening Standard about the service.  If you see a person in a suit wandering 

around the jetty looking a bit confused, people immediately say, “Let me tell you about the Thames Clippers 

and how I get to work quickly”.  Word of mouth is massively helpful. 

 

David Kurten AM:  What do you think about the maps and the TfL Journey Planner signage at the piers 

and accessibility as well?  Do you think that they are all good or do you think there are areas for 

improvement? 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  Yes, it is difficult to say.  I suspect as a tourist I might be 

a bit confused, but when you come on to a jetty there are always people there who can help you and answer 

questions.  There are maps up and generally they do show various areas where you might want to visit as a 

tourist or whatever.  On commuters, again, if you went to a jetty, there are maps there that show you where 

you need to go.  People are not helpless.  You can look up where this jetty ends and what is near it and so 

on and so forth.  People can do their own research. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I suppose for people who are used to using it and are using it regularly then it is not a 

problem because people know what they are doing.  I am thinking about attracting new people into it.  

What could be done to make access easier for people who want to start using it?   

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  I did notice after the last article in the Evening Standard 

a year or so ago that more people did appear on the piers.  Anything like that helps; very much so.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes, after an article everyone thinks, “That is exciting”. 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  Talking about gins and tonics, yes! 

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes.  Finally, coming back to you, Danny.  I understand that there are 22 piers and 19 

of them are wheelchair accessible.  Do you have any plans to make the other three wheelchair accessible as 

well? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  All of TfL piers are 

fully accessible.  Some of them are privately-owned piers.  There has been an improvement and there has 

been an increase in accessibility to those piers, but there are one or two changes that we need to try to help 

influence.  We do not necessarily have complete ownership and control over those that are privately owned, 

but there is influence.  

 

David Kurten AM:  OK.  The TfL ones are all wheelchair accessible, but there is a bit of work for some third 

parties? 

Page 39



 

 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  Yes, as well as boat 

operator services.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes, OK. 

 

Emma McFarlane (Passenger representative):  I can give you an example of that.  On my particular pier 

in Cadogan, at the beginning of Thames Clippers ramping up their services, they did have a lot of problems 

with that pier.  It is a privately-owned pier.  They were saying, “We are not particularly keen on having 

additional volumes”.  I do not know how Thames Clippers or TfL got over that, but they did, thank God.  

There were issues and so that is something else to bear in mind. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Would you other gentlemen have anything to add or are you happy with the 

discussion? 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  Yes.  The point about the search on 

the app and coming up with river options was really important.  What needs to happen technically to 

achieve that?  If it is not on the first screen, then people do not tend to find it, do they?  Anything that 

Danny and his team can do to get that really integrated into the app system would be fantastic.   

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  We have heard, if we can create a vision 

for the future of the Thames as a Tube line, that would have far more impact than what the “river bus”, as it 

is, currently does.  

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  Just to add, a lot of 

these subjects are absolutely key ingredients to the London Pier Strategy, which later this year we would 

hope would be published by then.  We are not self-inviting ourselves to return, but it would be quite a good 

idea if possible to perhaps return once that Strategy is shared so that you can see the progress and what we 

are focusing on. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Good idea. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Our report from this will be trying to influence some of that.  Could 

a licence condition be linked to the accessibility issue so that you do not use those piers if they are not 

accessible and you look at not licensing?  That could be a tool.   

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  The PLA would -- because they are the 

custodians of where that infrastructure sits.  LRS and TfL did produce a pier design build document a couple 

of years ago that is communicated to the developers that are building their own piers.  Pretty much all of 

the new piers that have been built are being built to a good standard for accessibility.  During the Olympics 

we carried a significant amount of people that had accessibility issue and the river was deemed to be very 

successful.  If we can just loop out those odd few piers in the future, because at the end of the day they are 

requiring refurbishment or replacement anyway, so there is an opportunity there to do that. 

  

Keith Prince AM:  Danny, in relation to the Journey Planner, I was a big advocate of that until I went out 

with a couple of guys from TfL who said, “We do not use that.  We use Citymapper”.  Citymapper uses 

Page 40



 

 

information supplied by TfL and so whatever they do, Journey Planner could do.  I have just typed in a 

couple of points from Greenwich to London Bridge.  It gives me the trains, but also it does give me the ferry 

option as well.  In fact, I can even do it by jetpack in nine minutes, apparently.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Very good.  Thank you.  Let us move on to management and  

co-ordination.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Danny, you cited the London Pier Strategy, which will be 

announced later this year.  I would say one of the issues with the river service is that the management and 

co-ordination was led by different departments and different bodies.  You have LRS responsible for the 

licensing; you have Thames Clippers operating the river bus, and PLA responsible for the waters.  In 

September last year, the Mayor established the Thames and London Waterways Forum.  That Forum 

replaced the Waterways Commissions and Rivers Co-ordination Forum.  How do you feel that that Forum 

has improved some of the strategic issues and activities in helping to co-ordinate all the different services? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  Started.  The reason 

I say that is because it is not a huge amount of time for something that is quite a strategic group.  We have 

had some good workshop groups.  As part of the Forum there are three main leads, of which passenger 

service is a key one, which I chair.  Very recently we had a very good working session on the Pier Strategy 

with a lot of good, innovative ideas in terms of partnership and what we can do with some of the planning 

points.  Interestingly, a number of the things that we have mentioned here about connectivity and TfL have 

come up.  We have these meetings on a quarterly basis.  The Pier Strategy in draft form will be shared with 

the next steering group in the summer.  We are hoping very soon after that it will be published.  Of course, 

it needs to go through the steering group first of all.  The London Pier Strategy is a strategy.  Underneath 

that a lot of our time within the Pier Working Group is spent looking at actions and getting thoughts and 

ideas to turn that into a plan of activity.  One of the things that is really clear, in the success of the river 

doubling its volume over the last ten years, has been a real collaborative working group with an energy and 

a pulse.  We want to keep that pulse going.  It is early days, but we have a tangible Strategy which will be 

published later this year.  We have a broad spectrum of river stakeholders as well borough representatives 

with water frontage involved. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Do you feel that the PLA being part of that wider group has 

benefits? 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  Yes, definitely.  We chair a third of the 

working groups, the people and places.  All I wanted to say is that the leadership from the Mayor down 

really is important in this.  We have been lucky in Val Shawcross [Valerie Shawcross CBE, Deputy Mayor for 

Transport], who has been personally really passionate about it and committed to it.  Continuing that 

leadership is really important.  Part of what will make a success of the vision, as well as addressing all the 

very specific issues we have been talking about, is the wider picture; things like the illuminated bridges 

project and making the river exciting and attractive at night or in the winter when passenger numbers are 

lower; the Culture Strategy, getting the river at the centre of that; the fact that you can get to World 

Heritage sites by river and you can create excitement around that.  Some of these wider GLA responsibilities 

are really important to bring into the picture to make that demand happen. 

 

Page 41



 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Do you feel that those concerns are being addressed at that 

Forum? 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  Yes, they are.  The value of it is to 

bring all those issues together in one place.  It is not a criticism, but with Val moving on, we just need to 

make sure that momentum is maintained, really.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes.  We will definitely feed that back to the new Deputy Mayor 

when she starts.  Just a final comment on the co-ordination and management; again, I am mindful that you 

mentioned that it is a bit too early to look at how that is progressing, but in terms of the directives set by 

that forum, how will they be measured? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  They will be 

measured ultimately it is delivering the Thames vision, which the Mayor’s Transport Strategy endorses, in 

terms of improving and increasing river volume. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Policies? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  Yes.  Sitting behind 

a number of policies is bringing the policies to life and underneath that having some clear actions and 

directions of what needs to be done to deliver that.  It is very policy driven.  It is part of the Mayor’s 

Transport Strategy document.  It is very much aligned with the other TfL documents that are being 

produced.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  From what you have said, Val has really taken a lead on this in the 

last two years.  Before that we had Richard Tracey, [former] Assembly Member, as an ambassador for the 

river.  Do you think that sort of role needs to be recreated to make sure the river is being constantly 

considered in TfL?  Sean is nodding. 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  Absolutely.  Richard really promoted the 

need and the opportunities that river transport can provide certain boroughs.  He very much looked at the 

west and was instrumental in getting that service up and running.  He was absolutely right the proof is there 

in the demand that we see.  I would very much welcome a similar sort of ambassador moving forward.  One 

of the biggest issues that the previous model, the Concord app, faced -- yes, from an operator’s perspective 

we have TfL, we have the MCA and we have the PLA all regulating us for different aspects.  It is not easy, 

but it is achievable.  They are talking to each other more and more.  Those that are not talking to each other 

are the boroughs.  I see those as the biggest stumbling block.  They see the river as this demarcation line 

and their next-door boundary being a demarcation line and there is no joined-up thinking in that regard.  I 

am a bit disappointed in the lack of input, for instance, from Tower Hamlets and Southwark in the 

consultation of the river crossing between Rotherhithe and Canary Wharf.  The cost of that bridge is so 

significant compared to what a totally electric cross-river ferry service could deliver with no significant 

infrastructure.  This has to be a swing-bridge to allow ships and large vessels to come up through.  There is 

an opportunity there to start looking at how the river can play a part in connectivity from one shore to the 

other.  That could be a pilot which will eventually be delivered, as it is in the Mayor’s plan between the 

Greenwich Peninsula and Canary Wharf and the north shore.  That could be replicated all the way down the 

Page 42



 

 

river as developments expand; Barking, Thamesmead, all the way down, as the corridor expands from 

housing.  The more of that you get, the less the river will be seen as a boundary.    

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  The idea of having an ambassador pulling that all together everyone 

think is a good idea.  Let us move on to TfL support for river bus services.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you, Chair.  First of all, to Danny, how does TfL invest in river services, both in 

terms of investment and infrastructure and the operating subsidy? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  In infrastructure, of 

course, the Business Plan would invest up to £1 million each year of the Business Plan in renewal works and 

maintaining the piers, which is really important.  A lot of the infrastructure that TfL does needs to be 

maintained for safety.  We also invest this year, short term, in what we can do to improve connectivity 

signage, wayfinding, just to try and improve how our customers find the river, partly linking Westminster or 

other key station locations.  That is some funding that we have already identified and put in place for this 

year.   

  

Tom Copley AM:  Do you invest in promoting the river as well?  We touched on this with Florence’s 

question.  TfL is one of the most brilliant advertisers in terms of the marketing it produces and a great 

history.  It still produces great marketing and advertising.  I do look, but I do not very often see adverts for 

river services.  Often, they tend to be for tourists.  Do you invest anything in promoting the river to 

commuters, for example? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  A lot of our focus 

comes as part of wider digital investment, which TfL uses to ensure the website is competitive against other 

potential websites that may want to relay transport information.  There has been an improvement on 

promoting the river in our digital channels and on that side.  As I say, you will identify there are some 

improvements that could be made to signage more locally, which we are trying to address now.  We do need 

to look at how we promote the river.  In my view, it is the connectivity part and certainly involved in sharing 

internally with TfL what we can do.  Sean Collins, on my right-hand side, would love the river line to be on 

the Tube map, for example.  We have to look at what can be achieved and to make it connect with how far 

we can go.  Certainly, the river should be an option.  It is less, I suppose, about just finding money to put a 

marketing promotion in place, which some would say should happen in the summer when the river is busy 

anyway, but it is our business-as-usual connectivity and so it feels part of the wider network, which is where 

we are focused at the moment.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  The idea of putting it on the Tube map is really interesting.  Although, of course, the 

challenge there is the Tube map is already incredibly congested and is going to get more congested.  Being 

on the Tube map immediately puts it into people’s minds as something that they could use as an alternative 

to getting on a crowded Tube train. 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  Another option is 

also about whether there is a possible link or TfL has a role of selling tickets as it does do with certain visitor 

attractions.  There are a number of these things coming out of these workgroups which we will be taking 

back within TfL to see what is feasible over the next few months.   

 

Page 43



 

 

Tom Copley AM:  When a company, like Thames Clippers, comes to you and say, “We want to do this 

route”, do you also go to them and say, “We want you to do this route and we will provide you a subsidy to 

do that”?  Is it a two-way thing? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  Yes.  The Putney to 

London Bridge subsidy came through a tender process, which Thames Clipper bid for and was successful.  

Overall subsidy for the river has gone down in recent years with river bus volume going up.  It is showing 

that that has worked particularly well.  Our agreement is that we will look where we can to phase out 

subsidies, as part of its strategy working quite closely with Thames Clippers.  We need to go through an 

official procurement process for any sort of level of subsidy.  That comes from a particular contracted 

service that we run, whereas most of our other services are run on licences. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  How do you promote competition between different companies that offer river services? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  We go out to 

market.  I do not know exactly; five years ago what we did was the Putney, we certainly went out to market 

to try and engage people and other operators, wider than just London and people that we know.  There is 

an official process that is always gone through to make sure it is open, fair, and for us competitive because 

that is where the value comes from, making sure there is competition.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Has any consideration ever been given and would it be desirable, do you think, would it 

be advantageous to TfL, for example, in having its own company that offers river services and competed 

with other companies as well or do you think the model where you get other companies to bid is the best 

way to do it? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  From the river, the 

contracted or the licensing model because the vast majority of services are licences which gives them access 

to the piers and it also allows the businesses to run them and be driven by making sure they are 

economically viable.  It is not a plan that we currently have.  We operate and own the Woolwich Ferry, but 

that is a free ferry service, so that is something that will always need subsidies.  That made sense in that 

space, but is not something that we are planning to introduce yet.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  OK.  How are improvements to your infrastructure, particularly the piers, made and 

funded?  How is that done? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  It is within our 

Business Plan, within TfL’s accounts.  It is looking at what the priorities are.  Recently, the Greenwich pier 

life extension, we spent £1.3 million on that, which was completed in March [2018].  There are some 

absolutely fundamental needs of pier river infrastructure and the Business Plan secures that funding to 

ensure that we have safe facilities there.  

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes, it is incredibly important, the experience with the London Overground, where once 

the investment had gone in to improving the experience, the trains, the stations, improving the staffing 

levels, the fact that it was on the Tube map and the fact that frequencies were higher as well, of course, all 

led to huge increases in passenger numbers on there. 

 

Page 44



 

 

What lessons have you learned from other cities around the world?  Our briefing talked about Brisbane, 

where they have a population of one-seventh of London’s but they have double the number of river bus 

users annually.  What learning do you have from around the world as to how we can improve and grow 

passenger numbers? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  In 2015, Thames 

Clippers went out; Brisbane was one of those stops.  Thames Clippers was looking at benchmarking services.  

There were some learnings about customer communications.  There is quite a heavy focus on infrastructure 

on some of those areas and investment was quite significant.  We have replicated that in some of the pier 

extensions.  There have been some quite significant investments that TfL have made since.  A challenge for 

us is to continue to do that and not just looking at other locations, but also tying in other technology 

innovations and digital innovations and looking at what impact that has on the river.  That is something that 

we will benefit from being part of the plan for TfL.   

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  Unfortunately, the Brisbane study tour 

was before I started.  As I understand it, the chief harbour master of the PLA went to Brisbane.  One of the 

lessons learned was the building-in at the early stage of planning.  So, it goes back to Sean’s point about 

the riparian boroughs.  How far is it really central stage, if we are looking at Barking Riverside, Erith, Purfleet 

or all of the developments to the east, which are going to be so significant?  If you talk to the Director of 

Planning or the Chair of the Planning Committee, where on the list of priorities is the river?  I suspect in 

most cases it is still pretty low, if there at all.  That is one of our efforts.  We have increased our planning 

resource in PLA in the last year or so, just to be able to be a bit more proactive and get out and talk to the 

boroughs and say, “Look, you have a lot of housing growth --” not just about piers, but about water sports, 

using the river for recreation, creating communities around the river.  That is really important.  As I 

understand it, it is one of the things Brisbane has been really good at is that it is really central in their 

policies and planning systems. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Absolutely, developments around Thamesmead, things like that? 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  Yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Is that just something where we need more in the London Plan, perhaps, more policy 

and more guidance on that to move that up the agenda in terms of what the boroughs are thinking in terms 

of planning? 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  The London Plan says the right things.  

It is the amount of political attention that it gets -- 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  It says the right thing, but is it going to 

be acted upon?  That is my concern.  For instance, the Royal Wharf at Silvertown, the developer there is 

committed to putting a significant pier in.  It is going to be really good connectivity to other mobile hubs as 

well.  There was no consideration initially given by the planning and transport advisers, as to delivering 

people by bus locally to the pier head.  Thankfully, it was at the last phase of the development and we have 

managed to get a bus route that is going to drop off within less than 100 metres from the pier, which was 

deemed to be a success.  Equally, in the future you take the Brisbane model.  All over Australia and the 

Page 45



 

 

United States, the buses drop off right at the pier heads and so people have a seamless interchange in 

connectivity.  This heavily supports local communities.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  That is very interesting. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you very much.  Our last questions are about expanding 

services to the east.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  If I look at your map of scheduled services, everything stops at Woolwich.  A lot 

of the housing development in London is going to be beyond that, to Barking Riverside and the Thames 

Gateway.  I would like to ask a general question first and then come into some specifics, if I can.  What are 

the benefits and challenges of doing that expansion further to the east?  Sean, do you want to start? 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  We have to look at the heart first and we 

have to make sure that the centre of London has the ability to cope with those vessels coming in.  There 

needs to be support, infrastructure, piers and access to those piers.  Assuming that is delivered, we have 

already embarked on a programme with quite a few developers.  As I said, Ballymore and Oxley have 

delivered this pier at their cost and so we are really working commercially with others to deliver the piers 

outside of London and services that are not necessarily drawing on the public purse. 

 

We have demonstrated previously that, yes, there is often the need for subsidy but it is seed core funding in 

that the majority of our routes now do not require a subsidy.  They have become viable and been able to 

stand on their own two feet.  Moving forward, a similar sort of programme needs to be put in place to 

support the expansion of river services out to the east, where there is a strong business case that 

demonstrates that, over time, these services can stand alone without subsidy and deliver a high level of 

service to the customer. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  You said that the central London route needs sorting out.  Would it be a case for 

a shorter service from the east outside London just down to Canary Wharf or would that not be viable? 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  Yes, I see that that has a lot of potential.  

We did a trial last year.  New boats were waiting to be delivered and we were waiting for completion of 

Battersea Pier, and so we took that opportunity to do some market research on one of the biggest questions 

we are always asked: what about a service from Gravesend or the outer estuary?  It was very successful and 

we got a lot of feedback from that trial.  There is nothing like actually doing one.  The indication was that 

there was a significant number of commuters who would use that service.  Equally, we would not want to be 

stopping at too many piers because it would make it a long journey.  We did that trial.  We came into 

London at Tower Pier.  We came into Blackfriars and Embankment and that was very successful. 

 

I do not see it being a requirement for every pier to be expanded or for every pier to have a stop for every 

route.  Equally, as the existing routes develop and expand, not all of those stops need to be included.  We 

have done a lot of work on developing a network for the future so that the river bus services in their own 

right have the ability to integrate with each other to provide accessibility because, you are quite right, the 

journey time from, say, Gravesham or Erith into Canary Wharf is very competitive, even a lot quicker than 

other forms of transport. 

 

Page 46



 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I suppose the ideal would be to have a full-length service but capacity in the 

central map.  I suppose it is very hard to then decamp passengers from one boat or another.  You are not 

very mobile like the bus or Tube. 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  Exactly, and some of the piers have been 

developed in a way that they really are quite an inviting structure in their own right.  I believe that in the 

design for Royal Wharf, for instance, there is going to be a small kiosk on the pier so that you can get a 

coffee while you are waiting for the boat, which is just brilliant.  That is the sort of thing that is going to 

complete the circle in a proper waterborne transport offer. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I was aware of your four-day trial out to Gravesend.  Are you planning on 

publishing the results or could you give us an indication of your results, perhaps after this meeting? 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  Certainly, yes, I am more than happy to. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  That would be very helpful.  Can I go to Danny and then Robin about what is 

needed to try to get these piers further out to the east and to Thames Gateway? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  First of all, as Sean 

mentioned, until we have an engaged developer that is very important from TfL’s perspective, the likelihood 

of us perhaps building piers going east is very small but working very closely with developers and with river 

bus services to enable that to happen is important.  That includes the connectivity of where the bus comes 

in.  That whole package of offer we need to support on, including the standard of which piers are built to, 

accessibility and those things. 

 

In terms of where there is a business case for a subsidised service, it is going to come down to what the 

business case says and the value for that.  I am also very keen to see the results of the Gravesend trial 

personally and Sean has said he is going to share that with us.  Our role is to engage in the main core for 

those connections to happen and then promote those services. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  When there is a development of particular significance going ahead, TfL is an 

automatic stakeholder for any planning authority. 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Are your responders in TfL to those planning, I suppose, stakeholder 

engagement, are they very clear that they need to put river services on an equal footing with bus and Tube 

and train or whatever at that very early stage? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  Absolutely.  It is very 

clear in the Mayor’s Transport Strategy that the river has a key part to play.  What we know the Transport 

Strategy does do is to make it clear as to where that connects with other policies that we have, and so 

everybody is very focused on that. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Robin, continuing with you. 

 

Page 47



 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  We would be particularly keen on a 

Gravesend service because the PLA’s headquarters are in Gravesend and so that would be a door-to-door 

service, I am sure. 

 

There are two further points, one just to reinforce this issue about central London.  If we do not sort out 

central London, then we will not have the capacity to develop to the east.  The one single place where we 

need to act urgently is Embankment.  If we do not find a solution to that, then we have a real constraint 

issue and so that is really important. 

 

The broader point for me would be engaging with the developers.  Sometimes it is about education as well 

as information in the sense that some developers are very familiar with the river and its potential and others 

are less so.  We have been talking, for example, to Peabody [Group] about the Thamesmead next phase, just 

to think through with them not just what the river bus could do for their residents, their tenants, but also, as 

I said earlier, the potential of the river for a water sports centre adding to the quality of life.  At the 

moment, unfortunately, the first phase of that development looks away from the river to some extent, which 

is a missed opportunity in the sense that you have this wonderful resource of a global river on your doorstep 

and you are not making use of it. 

 

Part of our messaging is around that and I guess we can do our bit on that.  We are a fairly small 

organisation.  Sean does his own engagement with developers, but if there is anything more that the 

Assembly, the GLA and the Mayor’s office can do to engage at that high level to say, “Look, really think 

through the river opportunities at an early stage”, it would be really helpful. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Could the Waterways Forum be a body that could look at that? 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  Yes. 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  Coming back to the point of a river 

ambassador, certainly looking at the future for the east is very, very important to make sure that that 

communication is being fed in to the Mayor and the boroughs that it is associated with.  We have been 

lobbying for a pier within the Poplar area, the eastern side of Canary Wharf, for nearly 15 years now.  We 

were very fortunate that we got a pier twice the size replaced at Blackfriars as a result of the Tideway 

Tunnel works at the upper side of Blackfriars.  That then made a relatively new millennium pier redundant. 

 

I suggested that we try to get a local business or beneficiary of that pier to provide the funding to get it 

installed in another location.  This was achieved.  The Radisson Hotel Group agreed to pay for the 

installation of the old Blackfriars Pier at East India.  This would have given journey times for customers from 

Woolwich, for instance - currently it takes them 20 minutes because they have to go all the way round the 

Isle of Dogs to what we call Canary Wharf west, they would have been there in 10 minutes.  We have hit 

objection after objection after objection for putting that pier in and there is no real reason for it, other than, 

“The development is completed and we do not want it on our doorstep”.  It is very short sighted.  In that 

instance, we were trying to get something in once the development was completed. 

 

I strongly urge that the plan ensures that there is clear scope for a pier to be put in in those areas and on 

those sites that are identified to be key players.  There is no point putting piers in a location where you have 

a significant competing mass transit system.  There are going to be places all the way down the Thames 

Page 48



 

 

corridor where we are going to be seeing significant housing developments come up.  The river can 

contribute to significant volumes of transit.  For instance, Barking - and this is where we have to think 

outside the box - to Woolwich is six minutes by clipper.  You will then be able to get off and get straight on 

Crossrail within three minutes’ walk of the pier.  That is the sort of vision that we have to start looking to 

deliver. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM: Can I then ask Danny and Robin?  We talked at the moment about looking at 

future developments and whether you could put a pier in.  Has there been any piece of strategic research 

just looking along the river saying where you would ideally like to put piers in? 

 

Robin Mortimer (Chief Executive, Port of London Authority):  That is quite an important part of the 

River Strategy that we have.  Just to mention in terms of the potential Radisson pier, we are working quite 

hard to find a planning solution for that pier.  It has also been in the Mayor’s Transport Strategy to 

investigate a solution for that and we are working quite hard.  There is some opposition, but we recognise 

that at a general location there would be demand for that. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  There is a strategic plan to say where you would like new piers to be? 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  Piers that we want 

marked on it, yes. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  My final question then - and there have been quite a number of recent articles - 

the obvious stop missing is City Airport.  Is that something that is being looked into at all? 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  The Royal Wharf Pier is going to be quite 

close to that.  City Airport, while it is perceived to be on the river, is actually set back quite a way from the 

river.  It has a massive industrial wharf between it and the river, being Tate & Lyle, and so it is not without 

its challenges.  We think that having the bus stop now quite close to the pier at Royal Wharf is going to 

potentially give us an opportunity to connect up there to the airport, especially given its expansion as well.  

We see that as an opportunity to run a shuttle service to Royal Wharf so that passengers can access because 

- you are quite right - you look at the journey time from there to the Greenwich Peninsula and from there to 

Greenwich, Surrey Quays and Southwark, it will be quicker by river than any other form of transport. 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  Just to add, we look 

at all options as to where demand is. The Docklands Light Rail (DLR) will take you to London Bridge within 

20 minutes.  That is actually something that people are not always aware of when they arrive because 

people have the opportunity to take private taxis and there is a lot of work that the DLR team has done to 

put a lot of focus on moving people by rail, but certainly I have not seen a huge demand.  I was told that in 

the 1980s there was a service that did run, but that is quite a long time ago. 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  And pre-DLR. 

 

Danny Price (General Manager of Sponsored Services, Transport for London):  And pre-DLR, of 

course. 

 

Sean Collins (Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers):  Pre-pretty much everything, actually. 

Page 49



 

 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you very much.  We have come to the end of our questions.  

Were there any points - and particularly Emma because with some of it we have been getting into some 

technicalities - any of our panel wanted to raise? No.  We have covered everything.  That is fine.  Can I 

thank you very much, Emma, Sean, Danny and Robin for your contributions today?  It has been a very 

useful discussion with lots of ideas coming out from it. 

 

We will be shortly arranging to do a trip on the Thames Clippers.  I was planning in the morning to have tea 

and coffee, but I think I am now going to be under pressure to get a different time!  We wanted to come out 

and have a look. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  For gin and tonic, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I think there is going to be a little bit of pressure there.  I will come 

out to chat with you whilst we are on the river having a look at the services and the boats, as some of our 

Members maybe do not use the boats or have not for a while.  Thank you very much for your contributions.   

 

Page 50



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 13 June 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the actions arising from previous meetings of the Transport Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed, outstanding and closed actions arising from 

previous meetings of the Committee. 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 16 May 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

8. 

 

 

Tube Delays 

 

The Director of Network Operations, TfL, to provide 

further details of TfL’s approach to assessing the impact 

of the Royal Wedding on central London. The 

Committee also requested clarity on the actions being 

undertaken on the District line in advance of the Four 

Lines Modernisation programme 

 

 

The Chair wrote to 

Transport for London 

to request this 

information on          

24 May 2018. 

 

TfL 

 

 

 

13. Transport Committee Work Programme 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree: 

 

i) The topic and any terms of reference for an 

investigation into London’s National Rail Network; 

ii) A response to TfL’s consultation on private hire 

safety regulation; and 

iii) Details of a site visit to the construction site for the 

Tottenham Court Road Elizabeth Line station. 

 

Completed. Further 

information is set out 

at Agenda Item 5. The 

response to TfL’s 

consultation is set out 

at Appendix 1. 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

Page 51

Agenda Item 4



        

Item Topic Status For Action by 

14. River Bus Services 

 

The Chief Executive of the Port of London Authority to 

provide the following additional information: 

 A copy of The Thames Vision, which set out their 

assessment of capacity pinch points along the river; 

and 

 Details of the environmental study undertaken by 

the PLA to assess the effects of NOx exposure on 

the river and on land, including on staff. 

 

Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers, to share 

details with the Committee of the recent trial service to 

Gravesend. 

 

General Manager of Sponsored Services, TfL, agreed to 

consider whether TfL’s Business Plan would include 

interim targets for river bus journeys and to update the 

Committee. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

the output from the meeting and any related site visits. 

 

 

The Chair wrote to 

guests to request this 

information on          

24 May 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 1 March 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transport Commissioner 

 

The Transport Commissioner to arrange two briefings; 

one with the Committee and Gareth Powell, Managing 

Director for Surface Transport, TfL, to discuss the 

reconfiguration of bus services; and one with Assembly 

Member McCartney and Mark Wild, Managing Director 

of London Underground, to discuss complaints from 

residents about noise from the Night time tube at Seven 

Sisters. 

 

Ongoing. These 

briefings are in the 

process of being 

arranged. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 1 February 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Deputy Mayor for Transport 

Deputy Mayor for Transport to provide: 

 A breakdown of Local Implementation Plan funding 

for each of the London boroughs;  

 Further information on the work of the technical 

working group tasked with looking at issues relating 

to taxis and private hire vehicles, including cross-

border issues, and any related framework 

agreements; and 

 Further information on plans to increase potential 

express route buses. 

 

Closed due to lack of 

response from the 

Deputy Mayor’s office. 

 

 

 

 

 

Deputy Mayor 

for Transport 

 

 

 

 

7. Work Programme 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

arrangements for a site visit to the Siemens Traincare 

Facility in Hornsey. 

Completed. This visit 

took place on 23 

February 2018. Further 

details are set out in 

the report at Item 7. 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 6 December 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

8. 

 

 

 

 

Cycling Infrastructure 

The former Cycling Commissioner agreed to provide the 

Committee with the following: 

 The report for the National Infrastructure 

Commission (NIC) on cycling once it has been 

finalised; and 

 A list of potential cycling schemes yet to be 

undertaken by the current administration. 

Ongoing 

The list of cycling 

schemes was reported 

to the Committee 

meeting on 10 January 

2018. The report of 

the NIC has yet to be 

published.  

Andrew Gilligan 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 8 November 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

9. London Underground Rolling Stock 

The Deputy Mayor for Transport to provide further 

information about how the decision to cancel the World 

Class Capacity programme was communicated to 

relevant parties including the TfL Board and to 

undertake a review of what information the TfL Board 

receives in order to fulfil its obligations;  

 

The Director of Strategy and Service Development, TfL, 

to provide the following: 

 An outline of the planned changes to the Northern 

line and the Jubilee line as part of the Tube 

modernisation programme, including the frequency 

of trains and future timetable enhancements, 

following the decision to cancel the World Class 

Capacity programme;  

 Clarification on the future of contracts for radio 

and CCTV equipment following the decision to 

cancel the World Class Capacity programme; and 

 Further information on whether the ageing 

population outside London may be part of the 

cause of the 2% drop in passenger numbers. 

Closed due to lack of 

response from the 

Deputy Mayor’s office. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Deputy Mayor 

for Transport  

 

 

 

Director of 

Strategy and 

Service 

Development, 

TfL 

 

3. Legal Implications  
 
3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
  

 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Letter to TfL, dated 24 May 2018 

 

 Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 938 (Rail Network), MDA 939 (River Bus Services), MDA 940 (Private Hire 

Consultation) 

Contact Officer:  Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone:  020 7983 5526 

E-mail:   laura.pelling@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 54

mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, Chair of the Transport Committee 
 

London Assembly 
City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 
London SE1 2AA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Dear Mike, 
 
Improving Safety in Private Hire Vehicles Consultation 
 
I am writing on behalf of the London Assembly Transport Committee to submit our views to this 
consultation.  
 
As you know, the Transport Committee has scrutinised TfL’s work in the area of taxi and private 
hire services extensively in recent years, publishing our report Future Proof in December 2014 
and responding to a number of subsequent consultations.1 I am drawing on this work in our 
submission, which focuses on your proposals in relation to tests for drivers, vehicle signage and 
insurance. 
 
Driving tests 
We believe it is right that Londoners expect the skills of private hire drivers to be on a par with 
licensed taxi drivers. Passengers place their trust in these services to provide safe journeys and all 
reasonable steps should be taken to ensure this.  
 
We therefore support your proposal for London to join neighbouring licensing authorities in 
requiring PHV drivers to undertake an advanced driving assessment, designed to reflect the 
specific challenges of driving in London. 
 
Disability awareness 
We note that TfL is proposing to introduce an enhanced wheelchair assessment for drivers of 
wheelchair accessible PHVs. However, there are no proposals to improve the service received by 
passengers with other forms of disability. 
 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/future-proof-taxi-and-
private-hire-services  

24 May 2018 

Mike Brown MVO 
Commissioner 
Transport for London 
Windsor House 
42-50 Victoria Street 
London SW1H 0TL 
 

Page 55

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/future-proof-taxi-and-private-hire-services
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/future-proof-taxi-and-private-hire-services
lpelling
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



 
 

For queries please contact Richard Berry, 0207 983 4199, Richard.Berry@london.gov.uk  

We have previously recommended that all PHV drivers should be required to undertake disability 
awareness training. There is, for instance, an ongoing problem with some PHV drivers illegally 
refusing to carry passengers with assistance dogs. We understand TfL is seeking to enforce the 
requirement to carry assistance dogs, but better training up front should be part of this effort.  
 
Disability awareness training should be added to the advanced driving training that all PHV 
drivers undertake. 
 
Vehicle signage 
As we have previously recommended, TfL should be working with partners to introduce fixed, 
licence plate-based signage for PHVs. This is the best way for passengers to know they are getting 
into a legitimate vehicle. Other measures to ensure licence information is displayed are welcome, 
but all are open to abuse and are not sufficient. 
 
We oppose the suggestion that any TfL branding, including the roundel, should appear in PHV 
signage. TfL branding is easy for unlicensed drivers to replicate, but conversely its presence could 
give passengers a false sense of reassurance that the vehicle and driver are licensed and 
approved by TfL for unbooked journeys.  
 
We also believe the proposal to have coloured licence discs is inappropriate. There is no reason 
to assume passengers will become familiar with what colour up-to-date licence discs are 
supposed to be. In any case, unlicensed drivers will easily be able to replicate the approved 
colour. 
 
We support your proposal to have the PHV driver ID displayed on the front windscreen of the 
vehicle. This should be double-sided so passengers inside the vehicle can also see it. It also needs 
to be large enough for the information to be viewed at a glance.  
 
Insurance 
Your consultation document lacks clarity in relation to your insurance proposals.  
 
TfL has previously implemented our recommendation that hire and reward insurance be in place 
at all times for the duration of a PHV licence. The consultation document states you are 
considering weakening this requirement “in light of the role played by the Motor Insurers’ 
Bureau.” 
 
However, you have not set out what role the MIB plays or why you think this changes the 
necessity for hire and reward insurance to be in place at all times. Even where the MIB provides 
protection for uninsured losses, this should be seen as a backup, not a substitute for the 
requirement to make sure all PHVs have appropriate insurance at all times. 
 
The Transport Committee is considering undertaking a follow-up investigation on taxi and private 
hire services later in 2018/19. I hope TfL will contribute to this work, and will share further details 
in due course. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 

Page 56

mailto:Richard.Berry@london.gov.uk


 
 

For queries please contact Richard Berry, 0207 983 4199, Richard.Berry@london.gov.uk  

 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Chair, Transport Committee 

Page 57

mailto:Richard.Berry@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Future of Rail in London 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 13 June 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the background to a discussion on the future of rail services in London. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the terms of reference for the investigation, as agreed by the 

Chair under delegated authority in consultation with party Group Lead Members. 

 
2.2 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to guests on 

London’s rail network, and notes the discussion. 

2.3 That the Committee agrees to delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party 

Group Lead Members, to agree any related site visits.  

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Transport Committee has launched an investigation into the future of rail in London. This 

investigation will focus on identifying London’s current and future rail needs and assessing the 

extent to which Network Rail plans and the Mayor’s Transport Strategy will address these. This 

investigation will also be used to identify innovative practice which could improve passenger 

experience, and the frequency, capacity and reliability of London’s rail network.  

 

3.2 The Committee will use its June and July meetings to discuss this topic. Further informal meetings 

and site visits are being planned.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



        

4.  Issues for Consideration  
 
4.1 The Chair has agreed the following terms of reference for the investigation under delegated 

authority, in consultation with party Group Lead Members: 

 To identify the current and future needs of London’s rail network, and how demand on the 

network will change.  

 To assess the extent to which Network Rail plans, and proposals in the Mayor’s Transport 

Strategy, will address London’s rail needs, and how these will be delivered. 

 To examine how TfL, Network Rail and the Department for Transport are working together to 

deliver and enhance rail services for London.  

 To examine the opportunities for innovative approaches to improving London’s rail network.  

 

4.2 The meeting will focus on London’s future rail needs and how these will be delivered. The following 

guests have been invited to today’s meeting: 

 David Leam, London First; 

 Stephen Joseph, Chief Executive Officer, Campaign for Better Transport;  

 Niall Bolger, Chief Executive, London Borough of Sutton, and Chief Executive lead for Transport 

in the South London Partnership; and 

 Dr Helena Titheridge, Senior Lecturer, Department of Civil, Environmental and Geomatic 

Engineering, University College London. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: None.  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 938 (Rail Network) 

 

Contact Officer: Grace Pollard, Assistant Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 60

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: London TravelWatch Performance 
Report and Recruitment 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 13 June 2018 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 This report sets out the report of the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch on the organisation’s 

annual performance for 2017/18 and the financial position as at 31 March 2018. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes London TravelWatch’s annual performance and the financial 

position as at 31 March 2018, puts questions to invited guests and notes the discussion. 

2.2 That the Committee agrees to delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party 

Group Leads, to agree the recruitment process for the three London TravelWatch Board 

positions, including Deputy Chair, due to expire at the end of the year.   

 

3. Background  
 
 Performance Report 

3.1 This paper presents the report of the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch setting out the 

organisation’s annual performance for 2017/18 and the financial position as at 31 March 2018.   

 

3.2 The Committee is asked to note London TravelWatch’s performance and the financial position as at 

31 March 2018. 
 

3.3 The Chair, Arthur Leathley, and Chief Executive, Janet Cooke, of London TravelWatch have been 

invited to this meeting.  
 
Recruitment 

3.4 The Assembly’s responsibility for discharging functions and responsibilities in respect of London 

TravelWatch has been delegated by the Assembly to the Transport Committee.  This includes 

appointing the Chair and members of London TravelWatch (in consultation with the Department for 

Transport). 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



 

 

3.2 The terms of office for three of London TravelWatch’s Board members, including the Deputy Chair, 

are due to expire on 31 December 2018.   

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The report of the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch setting out the organisation’s annual 

performance for 2017/18 and the financial position as at 31 March 2018 is attached as  

 Appendix 1. 

 
4.2 Three members of the London TravelWatch Board reach the end of their mandate on 31 December 

2018.  The recruitment process for these members will begin in June 2018.   
 

4.3 The Greater London Authority Act 1999 as amended (the GLA Act) requires members to be 
appointed after consultation with the Department for Transport (DfT). It is recommended that the 
Committee delegates authority to the Chair to agree any necessary decisions about the recruitment 
process (in consultation with party Group Lead Members). 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 Under Schedule 18 of the GLA Act 1999 (as amended), the Assembly has various powers and duties 

in respect of London TravelWatch. These include the powers to: agree London TravelWatch’s 

budget, appoint members of the London TravelWatch Board, approve officer appointments made by 

London TravelWatch, receive London TravelWatch’s accounts and audit and, under s.251 of the GLA 

Act, to issue guidance and directions as to the manner in which London TravelWatch shall exercise 

its functions.  

 

5.2 The Assembly has delegated its functions in respect of London TravelWatch to the Transport 

Committee.  

 

5.3 Under s.34 of the GLA Act 1999 (as amended), the Assembly may do anything which is calculated to 

facilitate, or is conductive or incidental to the exercise of any of the functions of the Assembly. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 Any financial implications arising from this recruitment process will be met from existing resources. 

  

 

List of appendices to this report: 
Appendix 1: Performance monitoring report from the Chief Executive of London TravelWatch 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 

Telephone: 020 7983 4399 

E-mail: ed.williams@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 62

mailto:ed.williams@london.gov.uk


          
London TravelWatch Performance Report to 31.3.18  

1 Introduction  

1.1. This report sets out London TravelWatch’s performance over the past year and 
shows the financial position as at 31 March 2018. Information on more recent 
developments arising from last year’s work is also included in the narrative where 
appropriate. It confirms how London TravelWatch has met its key business plan 
objectives and the outcomes it has achieved for transport users.  

1.2. The report summarises the volume and type of casework activity London 
TravelWatch handled during the period and includes a short overview of the main 
issues raised by the public. It also provides a high-level summary of performance 
against the GLA’s own targets for corporate health.  

2 Key areas of achievement     

2.1. 2017-18 has been another successful year during which we continued to make a 
real difference for transport users in and around London.  

 Our casework team dealt with 7,788 enquiries and complaints. We took 
forward 2,468 appeals (a 4% increase from last year) from members of the 
public travelling in London and the surrounding areas. Satisfaction with 
London TravelWatch case handling is high. 87% of people who completed 
our recent survey were satisfied or very satisfied with the way their case 
was handled.  

 Government and the rail industry have accepted the case we have been 
highlighting for several years that many London commuters were suffering 
persistent delays of 15-20 minutes on journeys scheduled to take 20-25 
minutes, but were not entitled to any compensation. We welcomed the 
extension of compensation after 15 minutes to Govia Thameslink Railway 
(GTR), South Western Rail and C2C services. 

 TfL continued to implement many of the recommendations from our  2016 
review of the impact of London Underground (LUL) ticket office closures 
on passengers, including making staff more visible and providing clear 
‘focal points’ on station concourses. 

 We continued to press for measures that will make travel significantly 
easier for a wide spectrum of people. We pushed the railway industry to 
improve the stepping gap between the train and platform, and for 
boroughs to properly implement accessible bus stops, which has now 
been taken up by every borough, except for Bromley. Sainsbury’s 

Appendix 1 

Page 63



supermarket cleared pavement clutter outside its stores as a direct result 
of our action. 

 We published a report on improving surface access to airports in 2014 and 
since then we have taken all available opportunities to promote 
recommendations arising from the work, including a submission to the 
House of Commons Select Committee’s inquiry on surface access to 
airports. We also raised the need for Southern rail access to Heathrow in 
meetings with Ministers during the year, and the scheme is now one of 
those proposed by the Government to be taken forward by priority 
investment. 

 We lobbied hard for the Crossrail Elizabeth Line to directly serve Terminal 
5 at Heathrow Airport and played a significant part in helping to achieve 
this major success for passengers during the year. 

 Chris Gibb’s final report on the Government-commissioned review of 
Southern’s performance, published in June, reflected many of our 
concerns about the poor performance of the whole GTR franchise, 
including Southern Rail - such as the impact of the ticketing anomalies and 
the need for a single station manager.  

 We continued to champion the need for good interchanges. We held a 
successful seminar at which the (then) Director of Strategy and Service 
Development at London Underground and London Rail, made a public 
commitment to start identifying key interchanges and work with partners to 
introduce ‘one team management’ at these locations. 

 We listened to passenger concerns and persuaded Network Rail to 
remove the charge to use toilets at stations they manage. 

 

3  Progress against the business plan objectives for 2017-18 

3.1. This section highlights progress against London TravelWatch’s key business plan 
objectives for 2017-18 and demonstrates the impact our work has had. 

3.2. We achieved a range of very good outcomes on behalf of London’s transport 
users, as set out below in this report. 

Securing fairer rail compensation for passengers 

3.3. When performance problems started on Thameslink and Southern it was clear 
that many rail passengers travelling in and around London, who make relatively 
short journeys of 20-25 minutes, were regularly being inconvenienced by delays 
of around 20 minutes, with no right to any compensation. We have been calling 
for compensation to be available to commuters after 15 minutes since December 

Page 64



2014 in correspondence with the Department for Transport (DfT), meetings with 
Ministers and MPs, in our publications and through the media. 

Review of London Underground ticket offices 

3.4. The ability to buy tickets, get easy access to information and access support are 
fundamental issues for passengers. We reviewed passengers’ perceptions of 
safety on the Tube network and their ability to purchase the right ticket easily and 
access the information and support they need to get around London. 

3.5. TfL agreed a full action plan to address the problems we identified. As a result of 
our findings they are recruiting new station staff to help passengers. They are 
also reviewing 'focal points' at stations where staff can be found and are looking 
at ways of making staff more visible. They trialled portable hearing loops and 
additional assistance for people less familiar with travelling around the capital. 
They found that instead of portable hearing loops, users preferred a ‘text to 
speech’ function on a staff member’s iPad, which also did not have associated 
problems with noise interference that was present with the hearing loops. TfL also 
trialled a system which will allow passengers to buy boundary extension tickets 
with a view to rolling this out network-wide. They are looking to draw on best 
practice from other sectors including airports, banks, hospitals and phone 
retailers. 

Fares and ticketing 

3.6. We discussed with Heathrow Airport and TfL how Oyster and contactless could 
be extended to Heathrow Express and Heathrow Connect. We continue to press 
for more National Rail stations to be brought into the Oyster area such as Luton, 
Stansted and Epsom. 

3.7. We will include recommendations for operators from our research into annual 
season tickets in our response to the RDG’s consultation on fares simplification. 

Transport Select Committee inquiries 

3.8. We contributed to three House of Commons Transport Select Committee 
inquiries during the year on rail safety, rail infrastructure and on mobility as a 
service.  

3.9. Giving evidence to the Select Committee’s rail safety inquiry provided the 
opportunity to highlight previous research we had done on anti-social behaviour 
as well as the problems posed by excessive stepping gaps between the platform 
edge and the train at so many of London’s stations. 

 

Page 65



Rail issues 

3.10. Chris Gibbs’ Government-commissioned review of Southern’s performance 
reflected many of our concerns and drew on some of the feedback we gave, 
particularly the need to prioritise the following: - getting peak time travel times 
right for the majority of passengers; maximising right time departure at key 
stations; aligning of Network Rail and GTR and the electrification of the Uckfield 
branch. 

3.11   Southern Rail passengers continued to suffer from poor service. We again 
expressed great concern about the ongoing poor performance and unreliability 
that these passengers were facing and called for an independent review of the 
franchise. We wrote to the (then) Rail Minister, Paul Maynard, about the poor 
performance of GTR services, including Southern. We provided input into the 
GTR timetable consultation during the year, and were pleased that GTR 
responded positively to our comments. This will provide significant improvements 
to passenger journeys, opportunities and reliability across the London and 
Southeast region.  

3.12. Our research into ‘value for money’ showed that passengers place great 
importance on the availability of free toilets and resent having to pay to use them 
having already paid for a ticket to travel. We wrote to Network Rail’s CEO, in 
January 2018 to ask if Network Rail would consider removing charges to use the 
toilets at the stations they manage in London. He replied that Network Rail had 
decided to scrap toilet charges at the stations they manage from April 2019. This 
change will make a significant difference, particularly to older people and those 
travelling with children. 

3.13   The high levels of performance and satisfaction on London Overground and TfL 
Rail coupled with poor performance on several suburban rail services serving the 
capital have ensured that the case for further rail devolution is never far from the 
transport news. We have been promoting the benefits for passengers for 
devolving suburban rail services to the Mayor for some time now so were 
disappointed at the Secretary of State’s decision not to devolve parts of the South 
Eastern franchise. Nevertheless, we will continue to try and ensure that the 
services provided to passengers in the Metro area of the new franchise are at 
least as good as they would have been under TfL, as well as make our case for 
further devolution in the future. 

3.14. We continued to play a part in highlighting the importance of the Crossrail 2 project 
for passengers who will experience further overcrowding if it does not proceed, and 
wrote to the Secretary of State for Transport to highlight our concerns. We received 
a response from the Secretary of State in which he stressed that ‘a thorough 
analysis is currently being carried out by the Department for Transport (DfT) to 
ensure Crossrail 2 is a robust scheme’. On 24 July, the Mayor of London and 
Secretary of State issued a joint statement announcing plans to work together on a 

Page 66



financial package ahead of the autumn Budget. We understand that interventions 
from ourselves and others were influential in making the case for the scheme.  

3.15. We have been a key contributor to the Office of Rail and Road (ORR)’s work to 
require operators to update, improve and publicise their complaints handling 
policies. We also continued to participate in the ORR’s Consumer Expert Panel. 

3.16. Our work on the multi-agency Travel Demand Management Board (TDM) 
encouraged operators to minimise the impact of engineering works on 
passengers so they can still travel and are well-informed of their choices. We 
particularly challenged the need for more cross-industry learning from how 
unplanned disruption was managed, and continue to push for this. 

3.17. We continued to provide the London passenger perspective into the DfT’s rail 
franchising processes by commenting on the passenger-facing elements of the 
Southeastern franchise bids. 

3.18.   At times of service disruption, information for passengers is often not as 
prominently displayed as it should be at London’s major terminal stations with 
advertising taking priority on electronic screens. We raised the issue in one of our 
regular meetings with Network Rail’s South East Stations Director. As a result 
they agreed to change future contracts so passenger information takes 
precedence over commercial advertisements at times of service disruption.  

3.19.  During the year, despite various issues that delayed its completion, work on 
electrification of the Barking-Gospel Oak line was completed with electric trains 
scheduled for use later in 2018. This scheme was championed by London 
TravelWatch and its predecessors for many years and will, on the introduction of 
new trains, provide significant additional capacity and reduce crowding levels. 

Public transport access to London airports and interchanges 

3.20. Our 2014 report on improving surface transport access to London’s airports has 
been very effective in helping to deliver improvements for passengers and 
continues to produce results, influencing the airports, DfT, TfL and the operators. 
One of our recommendations, an all-day service between Woolwich Arsenal and 
Stratford International, has recently been introduced on the Docklands Light 
Railway and greatly improves access to London City Airport.  

3.21. We emphasised the need to improve public transport links to Luton Airport – in 
2016 just 15 per cent of passengers made the journey by rail, the lowest proportion 
of air passengers using public transport to get to any of London's airports. We 
specifically called for four fast trains per hour, between Luton Airport Parkway 
station and London St Pancras as opposed to the reduction of long-distance 
inter-city services included in the franchise consultation document published by the 
DfT. We also supported the new Mass Passenger Transit system, which would link 

Page 67



Luton Airport Parkway with the terminal building, construction of which will 
commence shortly. 

3.22. In the longer term, we continue to highlight the strong case for a new interchange 
station at West Hampstead on the Chiltern line. Passengers wishing to access 
Gatwick and Luton airports from locations like Amersham, Harrow and Wembley 
would benefit from this and passengers travelling to other airports would only have 
to change once instead of making multiple changes or travelling by road as they 
currently have to. 

3.23. We supplied the ORR with archive material as evidence to support their case 
about the amount that Heathrow airport could charge Crossrail and others for 
using its tracks into the airport. The ORR’s decision that the airport could not levy 
excessive charges for track access means that passengers will be able to directly 
access the UK’s busiest airport terminal, Terminal 5, from December 2019. 

3.24. Our Interchange Matters seminar in January 2018 focused on improving surface 
access to London’s airports with particular reference to Heathrow and Gatwick. 
Both airports’ presentations clearly demonstrated what they were doing in response 
to our recommendations. 

3.25. Over the last year we have been focussing on the interchanges at London’s 
airports and we also posted blogs on the interchanges at Wimbledon and West 
Ham.  

Buses 

3.26. We were amongst the first to identify that bus speeds had been declining in 
London, particularly in the centre, making it harder for passengers to rely on 
buses to get to their destinations and adversely affecting TfL’s revenues as some 
people stop using buses. We highlighted our concerns in a letter to the Mayor of 
London and called for more action to be taken to tackle the problem. We are 
pleased that TfL are introducing longer hours on a number of bus lanes on their 
and borough roads to help improve traffic flows. 

3.27. We highlighted the large number of bus routes failing to achieve their contracted 
minimum standards and continued to progress our work to produce a good 
practice guide for standards passengers should be able to expect at London’s 
bus stations. 

3.28.   There is potential to better market the capital’s bus services overseen by TfL  
and encourage people to make more journeys by bus, particularly with bus user 

 numbers declining in London. We have often responded to consultations asking 
 TfL to consider the branding that many successful commercial bus companies 
 outside of London now undertake as part of their marketing strategy. This is more 
difficult in London because of the scale and density of the bus network, but 

Page 68



nevertheless we have said it is worth trialling. We raised this with the Managing 
Director of Surface Transport. Following a meeting with Barton’s Buses from 
Nottingham, TfL carried out an initial trial in Barkingside with new colour-coded 
buses, which had the main destinations and interchanges listed on the side. They 
announced in February 2018 plans to extend the trial to cover 40 buses across 12 
routes serving Hillingdon, Harrow, Ealing and Hounslow. The initial results from 
the trial are positive and we await TfL’s analysis of the first area trial and the 
commencement of the second area. 

 

Cycling 

3.29. The new Mayor’s Transport Strategy has put active travel at centre stage. A big 
part of this concerns the challenge of increasing levels of cycling in London. In 
December, we published “Cycling in London” which presents our views on the 
policies and programmes that we want to see adopted to encourage and enable 
more cycling alongside more walking and more public transport use. Our report 
concluded that measures to restrain car travel will be needed if the number of 
people cycling in London is to match the levels of many European cities. In our 
report we set out 12 policies to get more Londoners cycling – such as more 
sophisticated roads pricing, tighter parking rules to restrain driving, and car-free 
housing. This stimulated a wide-ranging debate on Twitter and we used the report 
as the basis for a submission to the London Assembly Transport Committee. 

Trams 

3.30. As a statutory consultee, we had an input into the Rail Accident Investigation 
Board’s comprehensive review into the Sandilands tram derailment. We 
subsequently discussed key findings with TfL staff. More recently, we had an 
informal meeting with the Safety, Sustainability and HR panel of TfL’s Board to 
consider the wider response to matters arising from the derailment. 

Accessibility on the Tube 

3.31. There are still large areas of London with little or no step-free access on London 
Underground, making journeys impossible or very difficult for those with reduced 
mobility or travelling with luggage and/or small children in pushchairs or prams. 
We have continued to make the case for step-free access in meetings with 
operators and submissions to TfL, highlighting the benefits for everyone. In 
particular, we have highlighted the fact that many stations could be made more 
accessible by the construction of modest improvements such as ramps from the 
station entrance to the platform. We discussed this at a Board meeting and 
accessibility was the focus of the second of our Interchange Matters seminars 
last year which was attended by the London Underground Managing Director. 

3.32. In January, the Mayor of London announced plans to make 13 more Tube 
stations, which between them account for 33 million journeys a year, step-free. 

Page 69



These are exactly the type of stations where we have previously campaigned for 
modest investment in ramped access, which can benefit a significant flow of 
passengers. They are also in areas of North West and East London where until 
now there have been relatively few step-free stations. 

3.33. We continue to push TfL for step-free access to be provided at Bank station to the 
Central Line, London’s biggest non step-free interchange, when the station is 
rebuilt. We have kept this issue on the agenda and are still hoping for a positive 
resolution. 

Tackling unlawful pavement obstructions 

3.34. Every London council has a legal duty placed on them to keep their pavements 
clear of obstructions. However, very few do this properly. As a result, many of 
London's streets are dangerous obstacle courses for pedestrians, especially 
those who are visually impaired or who rely on wheelchairs or mobility scooters.  

3.35. London TravelWatch has become an authority on the issue of highways 
obstructions. After much lobbying work, we persuaded TfL to establish a 
zero-tolerance approach to unlawful obstructions on their pavements and to 
actively enforce against non-compliance. The Mayor has adopted this approach, 
including the commitment in his manifesto after we flagged it up in our ‘Transport 
users priorities’ document and it is now a TfL priority. TfL are now also seeking to 
persuade the London boroughs to take a similar stance. We have been active on 
social media promoting the campaign, calling on London boroughs to follow TfL’s 
lead to clear their pavements of unlawful obstructions. To date 3,317 obstructions 
of the Transport for London’s Road Network pavements have been investigated. 
Over 90% of locations comply.   

3.36. Following our success in getting TfL to engage with Sainsbury’s supermarket on 
pavement instructions, we will now encourage TfL to engage with other major 
retailers. 

Response to Mayor’s Transport Strategy 

3.37. We held a special board meeting to discuss the draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy 
with the Deputy Mayor for Transport, Val Shawcross, following which we formally 
responded to the consultation. In our response, we emphasised the great 
potential for linked cycle and rail trips in outer London. There are 137 zone 5 and 
6 stations in outer London. We included a map demonstrating the area around 
each of these stations within 15 minutes cycling distance to show that often, 
these stations will be easily accessible by bicycle. We want to see the Mayor, 
London boroughs and station operators work together to encourage more cycle 
trips to these stations.  

 

Page 70



Communications and public engagement 

3.38. Our website and the use of social media continues to provide an effective and 
cost-efficient way to help engage the public in our work and to disseminate best 
practice to the industry.  

3.39. We continued to ‘live tweet’ from our public meetings. Key topics discussed last 
year included the Mayor’s Transport Strategy, Christmas engineering works, 
progress with actions stemming from our review of Tube ticket office closures and 
bus service performance. 

3.40. We have transferred our online bus users’ community to Twitter. We encouraged 
bus users to tweet us with feedback on their local bus stations as part of our work 
on bus station standards. In the year ahead we will also reinstate our bus users’ 
consultation events. 

3.41. We continued to review key interchanges in London on our interchange matters 
blog. This year we finished covering the interchanges at London’s airports as well 
as the interchanges at Finsbury Park, West Ham and Lewisham. 

3.42. There were 178,638 unique visits to our website last year, less than the previous 
year when there were 225,283 unique visits, although the overall trend is 
upwards. One of the reasons for this is likely to be the fact that in 2016/17 we 
received a large number of hits as a result of the ticket office consultation we 
carried out for the Mayor of London. We were also successful in getting a number 
of train operators to make our details less prominent on their websites to prevent 
passengers from contacting us before they have been to the operator.  

3.43. The most popular webpages continued to be: ‘money saving tips’; the frequently 
asked questions; ‘where can I use my Pay As You Go Oyster card’, ‘where can I 
top up my Oyster card?’ and our page on where to send complaints.  

4 Casework  

4.1.    During 2017-2018 our casework team dealt with 7,788 written and telephone 
enquiries and complaints. Most of these could be dealt with quickly or passed 
onto the operator for an initial reply, as we can only investigate cases where the 
complainant has not received an adequate response. The highest number of 
appeals we received concerned fares and complaint handling. Other cases 
involved service performance on both trains and buses (including delays and 
early departures), penalty fares, lack of travel information and complaint 
handling.  

4.2. Of those complaints that required further detailed investigation, 77% related to 
National Rail (compared with 73% last year). Over the past year there has been a 

Page 71



slight reduction in the number of appeal cases we took forward in respect of TfL’s 
services. 

4.3. Following constant campaigning by London TravelWatch and other industry 
partners, more rail operators are now offering compensation after a delay of 15 
minutes or more. 

4.4. London TravelWatch was consulted on the new version of the National Rail 
Conditions of Travel. Clarification has been given on industry improvements such 
as traveling when there is no opportunity to purchase a ticket before starting the 
journey. Also, further information is given surrounding compensation for onward 
journeys and events that have been affected by delays on the railway. 

4.5     Passengers have contacted us, frustrated that they have incurred additional 
costs because of delayed or cancelled rail services. Some have had to spend a 
considerable amount more on air tickets and hotels without the right to claim for 
consequential loss from a rail operator. We have argued for some time that 
passengers should have the right to claim for consequential loss, particularly 
when making their way to airports and when operators badge their services as 
‘airport services’. The amendment to the National Rail conditions of Travel which 
came in in March 2018 forced train companies to amend their terms and 
conditions to give passengers the right to make a claim for consequential loss. 

4.6. We carried out work with operators to ensure that London TravelWatch’s 
webpage was less visible on all their websites – including TfL. By removing the 
visibility of London TravelWatch’s direct contact telephone number and email 
address, we have reduced the number of initial contacts, (where the passenger 
has not yet contacted the operator), to allow more time to manage the increase in 
the more complex appeal cases. 

5 Corporate health  

5.1. As at 31 March 2018, the organisation employed 17 staff, six of whom are 
part-time, which equates to 13.32 full-time equivalent posts, a reduction of 1.43 
on the previous year. We are currently recruiting to three vacant posts (2.6 fte) 
which will bring our establishment to 15.92 fte.   

5.2. Following a period of individual and collective consultation on a staffing 
reorganisation, the organisation established a new, more effective structure. The 
rationale was to free up some of the CEO’s time from internal operational matters 
in order to concentrate on the strategic development of the organisation, and in 
doing so give greater responsibility and autonomy to others. The eventual 
proposal in place by the end of the year, made use of the expertise and 

Page 72



experience of our existing staff and required no job cuts. The overwhelming 
response to the restructuring has been positive. 

5.3. The overall level of sickness absence has reduced on the previous year, from an 
average of 11.4 days to 5.6 days in 2017/18 which is below the GLA target. 
Almost 60% of the sickness absence was accounted for by two individuals with 
pre-existing conditions. London TravelWatch has a strict policy on managing 
sickness absence to ensure the number of days lost is kept to a minimum. This 
includes prompt meetings with line managers after any absence and referral to an 
occupational health specialist for cases of intermittent but persistent absence or 
before return to work from long term sickness. We also remain flexible in 
supporting in managing people who have chronic illness. 

5.4. Staff had access to a range of learning and development initiatives during the 
year and we continued to encourage individuals to take responsibility for their 
own learning, develop networks and relationships and learn with and from others. 

5.5. London TravelWatch remains a healthily diverse organisation. Almost half the 
staff are women, 29% are from a BME background. 12% meet the definition of 
disabled in the 2010 Equality Act. 

6 Financial outturn  

 6.1. Part 1 of the Annex gives details of expenditure against budget as at the end of 
March 2018. There was an overall underspend against budget of £4k for the 
financial year 2017/18. 

 6.2   There was a small net overspend on staff costs. We had a slightly reduced staffing 
complement due to staff turnover in the second half of the year. This  was offset 
by an increase in overall pay due to a higher than anticipated pay award. In 
addition there were increased costs due to maternity leave cover. 

6.3 There was an overspend of £28k on accommodation as a result of an increase in 
rent and a provision for dilapidation costs which could result from an office move. 
This was partly offset by a lower rent due to a reduction in space occupied during 
the year. 

6.4 There was an overspend of £31k on supplies & services cost, partly due to a 
planned spend of £17k on research cost which had been earmarked to spend 
against reserves at the end of 2016/17. 

6.5 Following the much higher than anticipated rent increase in 2016/17, a change 
was made in depreciation policy to account for the fact an office move may  
happen in a far shorter time frame than was previously intended. Hence 
depreciation was £13.5k higher than budgeted. 

Page 73



6.6 We received other income of £78k. This was partly recovery for costs incurred 
from the Rail Delivery Group to help with the setup of a new rail passenger 
redress scheme. We also received additional income from the GLA to offset the 
costs of maternity cover.   

Risk areas   

6.7 With a small staff complement, a principal risk for us continues to be that we  will 
not have capacity for an unexpected and unavoidable rise in workload, which 
might be required to fulfil our statutory objectives, without extra expenditure and 
without draining our reserves to an unacceptable level.  

6.8 The year ahead presents us with a number of other uncertainties. These include 
IT costs, another maternity leave, an office move, the impact of the new rail 
ombudsman scheme on our work and the bedding in of our revised staffing 
structure. 

6.9 The Board has earmarked £25k of our reserves to meet one-off costs of 
organisational and individual development needs arising from the staff   
restructure and IT changes. 

 

Janet Cooke 
       Chief Executive, 
       London TravelWatch 
             
  30 May 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 74



1. Financial Performance  
The financial position as at the end of March 2018 is summarised below:  
 

 Original 
Budget  

Revised 
Budget  

Actual 
Spend/ 
Income  

Variance 
against 
revised 
budget  

 £ £ £ £ 

          

REVENUE EXPENDITURE      

Chair, Members & Staff Costs  799,762 799,762 800,391 (629) 

Accommodation costs 132,129 132,129 160,617 (28,488) 

Supplies & Services 91,951 91,951 123,366 (31,415) 

Depreciation  12,158 12,158 25,749 (13,591) 

     

Total Revenue Expenditure 1,036,000 1,036,000 1,110,122 (74,122) 

      

      

Total Capital & Revenue 
Expenditure 

1,036,000 1,036,000 1,110,122 (74,122) 

      

      

INCOME     

Greater London Authority 
Funding 

1,036,000 1,036,000 1,036,000 0 

Bank Interest Receivable  0 0 32 32 

Other income - Cost recovery for 
setup of a new Ombudsman 
service & the review of the 
closure of TfL ticket offices.   

0 0 77,982  77,982 

      

Total Income 1,036,000 1,036,000 1,114,014 78,014 

      

      

Revenue surplus transfer to 
general reserve  

0 0 3,892 3,892 

 

 

Note: Commentary relating to London TravelWatch’s financial performance is set out in 

section 6 of the preceding report. Costs recovered from Transport Focus towards the 
cost of employing a part time Safety Adviser to act for all passengers have been offset 
against staff costs. 

 
 

Annex: Performance Management 

Page 75



 
 
 
 
 
2. Corporate health  
 
The following relates to London TravelWatch’s performance against the GLA’s own 
corporate health performance indicators. 
 
 

PI 
no. 

Indicator Performance 
2015/16 

Performance 
2016/17 

Performance 
2017/18 

GLA 
Target 

Variance 

1 The number of 
working days 
/shifts lost to 
sickness 
absence per 
staff member 

 
 

15.1 
 

 
 

11.4 

 
 

5.6 

 
 

6 
 

 
 

+0.4 

2 % of employees 
that are women 

50% 56% 47% 52% -5 

3 % of employees 
from ethnic 
minority 
backgrounds 

 
28% 

 
33% 

 
29% 

 
29% 

 
0 

4 % of employees 
declaring that 
they meet the 
Equality Act 
definition of 
disability and /or 
have declared 
themselves 
disabled. 

 
 
 
 

6% 

 
 
 
 

17% 

 
 
 
 

12% 

 
 
 
 

13% 

 
 
 
 

-1 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport Committee Work Programme 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 13 June 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides details of planned scrutiny work by the Transport Committee and the schedule 

of Committee meetings for the remainder of the 2018/19 Assembly year.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee agrees its work programme for the remainder of the 2018/19 

Assembly year, as set out in the report. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference into an investigation into taxi 

and private hire services. 

 

2.3 That the Committee agrees to discuss Night Tube services at its meeting on 12 September 

2018. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting. 

This is the first such report for this Assembly year. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The following is a list of topics that the Committee is aiming to explore in this Assembly year: 

 River services; 

 National Rail; 

 Taxi and private hire services; 

 Freight; 

 Healthy streets; and 

 The night tube. 

Page 77

Agenda Item 7



        

4.2 The Committee will also seek to hold a meeting with the Commissioner of Transport for London 

(TfL) towards the end of 2018/19, most likely on 14 March 2019. The Committee will also seek to 

meet the new Deputy Mayor for Transport. 

4.3 The exact scope and timings for work on any of these other possible topics will be determined in due 

course and more detailed work programme reports submitted to future meetings. The Committee 

seeks to maintain flexibility in its work programme to take account of any relevant developments 

when scheduling its work and has a rolling work programme so work on any topics may continue 

beyond each Assembly year.  

 

River services 

4.4 The Committee discussed London’s river services at its meeting in May with TfL, Port of London 

Authority and other stakeholders. A letter to the Mayor on this topic is being prepared.   

 

National Rail 

4.5 The Committee is conducting an investigation into London’s National Rail network. The Chair agreed 

the scope and terms of reference of the investigation in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members. Today’s meeting and the meeting in July will be used to discuss this topic, with further 

detail under agenda item 5. 

 

Night Tube 

4.6 TfL launched the Night Tube service around two years ago, progressively extending the service to 

additional lines. It is proposed that the Committee use its September meeting consider any 

challenges the service may face such as passenger usage, finances, anti-social behaviour and noise 

complaints. 

 

Taxi and Private hire 

4.7 Transport for London is currently consulting on changes to safety regulation for the private hire 

sector. The Chair has agreed and submitted a response, using delegated authority in consultation 

with party Group Lead Members. Further detail is under agenda item 4. 

 

4.8 The Committee is considering investigating taxi and private hire services, following up its 2014 

report and subsequent scrutiny. If agreed this would include discussions at Committee meetings in 

October and November. It is proposed that Members delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation 

with party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference. 

 

Site visits  

4.9 The Committee will undertake a site visit to Tottenham Court Road on 6 June 2018 to view Crossrail 

Ltd’s progress constructing a new Elizabeth Line station at this site. The Committee has delegated 

authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree further details. 

 

4.10 On 23 February 2018, Committee Members visited the Siemens Traincare facility in Hornsey for a 

tour and briefing. Members learned about the procurement and delivery on rolling stock for the 

Thameslink service, viewed the passenger facilities and driver controls on board the new trains, and 

tested the driver training simulator. 

 
Responses to recent Transport Committee work  

4.11 The table below provides details of any responses due from the Mayor, TfL and/or others to 

Committee work.  

Page 78



        

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
London TravelWatch 

4.12 The GLA Act establishes London TravelWatch as an arms-length body of the London Assembly. 
London TravelWatch provides regular reports to the Transport Committee. The next update report is 
set out at agenda item 6.  

 
 
Schedule of meetings 

4.13 The schedule of the remaining Transport Committee meetings for 2018/19 is set out below with 

details of the main prospective topics identified to date: 

 11 July 2018 – National Rail; 

 12 September 2018 – Night tube; 

 9 October 2018 – Taxi and private hire; 

 13 November 2018 – Taxi and private hire; 

 5 December 2018 – to be confirmed; 

 9 January 2019 – to be confirmed; 

 5 February 2019 – to be confirmed; and 

 14 March 2019 – TfL Commissioner. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 

 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Transport Committee work Details of responses due 

London’s cycling infrastructure Response from Mayor and TfL due by 31 August 

2018 

Future transport Response from Mayor and TfL due by 31 May 2018  

Page 79

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 80


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Appendix 1 - Transcript- Tube Delays
	Appendix 2 - Transcript - River Bus Services

	4 Summary List of Actions
	4a - Appendix 1 - Transport Committee response - PH safety

	5 Future of Rail in London
	6 London TravelWatch Performance Report and Recruitment
	Appendix 1 - 2017-18 annual performance report

	7 Transport Committee Work Programme



